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2005: global growth holds up despite skyrocketing energy prices 
 

  The defining event  in 2005 was  the  increase  in energy prices as  the cost of oil  rose by 
45% over the year. OPEC and the major oil industry multinationals proved no longer capable of 
regulating oil prices and production volumes  in  the  face of sustained global demand and  the 
emergence of the nationalistic policies of new producers such as Bolivia and Russia. 

 

  Nonetheless,  the global economy held up surprisingly well, particularly  in  the United 
States  despite  the  damage  to  the  countryʹs  oil  industry  infrastructure  caused  by  hurricanes 
during the summer and autumn. Driven mainly by household consumption, the US economyʹs 
ability to weather adverse conditions seems to be endless. Consumer spending held up under 
the bursting of  the  Internet bubble  in 2000,  the  terrorist attacks  in 2001,  the  two wars  in  the 
Middle East and the natural disasters of 2005. 

 

  However, this economic growth came at the expense of growing structural imbalances. 
US  consumer  spending  was  supported  by  relatively  low  interest  rates  and  the  fact  that 
household  savings  were  virtually  nil,  having  dropped  to  the  lowest  level  on  record.  The 
continuous rise in property values has produced a ʺwealth effectʺ on households whose assets 
have risen in value with no attempt made to save, and fed consumer spending largely funded 
by mortgage  refinancing. With  no domestic  savings,  foreign  capital  has  poured  into  the US 
economy and the huge trade deficit of more than 700 billion dollars has been covered mainly by 
Asian investors. Such a system appears to be fragile since if interest rates continue to be raised 
in order to attract and retain foreign capital, a chain reaction could result, first dragging down 
property values, then consumer spending and finally growth. 

 

  In Asia, China  continued  its drive  to  become  a major  economic power, posting GDP 
growth  of  nearly  10%.  Steps  taken  by  the  Chinese  government  to  prevent  runaway  capital 
spending and consumption have not dented growth. The lifting of quotas on textile exports and 
the yuanʹs undervaluation have created serious disagreements between China and its Western 
trading  partners.  In  addition,  the  distribution  of  the  benefits  of  Chinaʹs  economic  growth 
appears increasingly uneven, with rural areas and the urban proletariat virtually left out, which 
could ultimately result in social and political turmoil. 

 

  After  15  long  years  of  recession  and  convalescence,  the  recovery  of  the  Japanese 
economy, pulled along  in the wake of Chinaʹs growth, has finally been confirmed. In the final 
analysis, government intervention played only a minor role in this recovery, with the exception 
of the cleaning‐up of the banking sectorʹs non‐performing loans. The risks of deflation seem to 
have been definitively dispelled and the manufacturing sector has restructured and returned to 
profit.  Japanese  growth  now  relies  on  domestic  consumer  spending  as well  as  on  external 
demand from its regional trading partners. 
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  Squeezed  between  Asia  and  the  United  States,  two  regions  with  dynamic  growth, 
Europe  is  increasingly  taking  a back  seat  and has been  shaken by doubts  as  to  its  ability  to 
adjust  to  globalisation.  The  rejection  of  the  constitutional  treaty  by  the  French  and  Dutch 
electorates in the spring of 2005 came about largely because of the inability of European policies 
to generate  the prosperity which had been used as  the  justification  for all  the major  reforms 
implemented such as completion of the European market and the budgetary discipline related 
to  the  introduction  of  a  single  currency.  European  integration  has  been  unquestionably 
weakened  by  these  repeated  disappointments  and  the  problems  encountered  in making  the 
enlarged group of 25 nations function effectively. 

 

  None of the major economies  in Europe managed better than a  lacklustre performance 
in 2005. Growth even fell to less than 2% in the United Kingdom, which in the past could boast 
of  a  more  healthy  economy  than  those  of  its  immediate  neighbours.  Italy  is  expected  to 
announce close to zero growth in 2005, whereas Germany seems to be on the road to recovery 
thanks to record trade surpluses and renewed consumer and business confidence. Nonetheless, 
German GDP growth remained under 1%. 

 

  France  ended up with growth of  1.5%  in  2005, much better  than had been hoped‐for 
given the poor start to  the year. The French economyʹs strength  in the final quarter came as a 
surprise and can be attributed  to strong consumer spending, as households dipped  into  their 
savings,  causing  the  financial  savings  rate  (i.e.  excluding  housing)  to  slip  by  1.4  percentage 
points over two years. 

 

GDP growth in France

+2.1%

+1.2%
+0.8%

+2.1%

+1.5%

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

 

  That  said,  France  continues  to  suffer  from  its  pronounced  structural  problems.  The 
economy is struggling to support constantly growing levels of public spending, and the out‐of‐
control budget deficit continues  to swell  the  level of public debt, which  is projected  to exceed 
100% of GDP within the next ten years if the trend is not radically reversed. 
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Financial services: the growing burden of regulations  
 

Overall,  financial  services  companies  recorded  record  profits  in  2005,  thanks  to  low 
interest rates, strong financial markets and dynamic property markets.  

 
Enhanced competition in retail banking led to increased intermediation margin erosion. 

For the moment, this trend is offset by the low level of risk and the pricing of banking services. 
 
Banks are currently confronted with an avalanche of new measures limiting their room 

for manoeuvre. European  regulations on  ʺfinancial  conglomeratesʺ, which  came  into  force  in 
2005,  introduced  new  requirements  for  equity  capital  for  both  banking  and  insurance 
institutions.  

 
The implementation of the McDonough capital adequacy ratio as from 2006 is expected 

to have an impact on banksʹ strategy and organisation. Implementing this reform is a complex 
and therefore costly matter for banks. Some observers also fear that the new ratio will limit the 
access  to  credit  of  certain  client  segments,  notably  SMEs,  to  the  benefit  of  other  segments 
deemed  to  be  less  risky  and  thus  requiring  less  capital  (as  is  the  case,  for  example,  with 
mortgage loans). 

 
Relations  between  banks  and  consumers  are  increasingly  tightly  regulated  by  public 

authorities. This has slowed the growth of fees and commissions, while competition is keeping 
a lid on intermediation margins. 

 
In  an  uncertain  economic  environment,  demand  for  loans  could  gradually  slow  in 

parallel with  a  deterioration  in  client  solvency.  In  such  an  environment,  the main  variables 
available to retail banks will be controlling costs and increasing productivity. 

 
 
 

Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe, Sud‐Est and Ile‐de‐France in 2005 
 

In  2005,  Crédit  Mutuel  Centre  Est  Europe,  Sud‐Est  and  Ile‐de‐France  continued  to 
develop  along  the  strategic  lines  that  it  has  pursued with  success  for  several  years: mutual 
banking, retail banking, high‐technology banking and bankinsurance. 

 
Crédit Mutuel CEE‐SE‐IDF/CIC now has 7.2 million clients (an increase of 4%) served by 

a  network  of  3,146  branches.  In  2005,  the  groupʹs  determination  to  serve  its  clients  locally 
resulted in the opening of 66 new branches, including 50 under the CIC name. 

 
The  group  also  continued  to  form  partnerships.  Since  1  January  2006, Crédit Mutuel 

Savoie Mont‐Blanc has been a member of the CFCMCEE Inter‐Federal Bank already shared by 
three Federations – Centre Est Europe, Sud‐Est and  Ile‐de‐France. As a result,  the group now 
has 150,000 additional clients and 40 additional Local Banks. 
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Synergies  were  also  developed  with  other  Crédit Mutuel  Federations:  14  of  the  18 
Federations  sell  Assurance  du  Crédit  Mutuel  products,  11  have  shareholdings  in  Banque 
Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel (BFCM) and 13 share the EIP IT platform already used by CIC. 

 
The group intends to maintain its leading position in technology. Crédit Mutuel – CIC is 

the only French bank  that offers clients an enhanced  identification system for remote banking 
via  the  Internet  to  protect  them  from  any  attempts  at  ʺphishingʺ.  The  groupʹs  electronic 
document management system has also been rolled out to provide paperless working solutions 
that are more efficient and productive. 

 
The  technology used  is designed  to satisfy contemporary client and  lifestyle demands: 

fewer  than 10% of  contacts now  take place  at branches, with half of  all  contacts handled by 
automatic teller machines and one in four over the Internet. 

 
In November 2005, NRJ Group and Crédit Mutuel/CIC  jointly  launched a new mobile 

phone  offer  that  has  taken  the  pre‐paid  call  market  by  storm.  Top‐ups  never  expire  and 
customers  can  choose  their  own  numbers  if  available.  Euro  Information,  the  groupʹs  IT 
subsidiary, owns 10% of  the share capital of NRJ Mobile and was  the developer of  the entire 
information system responsible for the technical management of the new operator which uses 
the SFR network. The functionalities that have been developed make it possible for customers to 
subscribe to the service at Crédit Mutuel Local Banks and at CIC branches, and to make top‐ups 
at the groups 5,000 ATMs. The first few months of the marketing drive have been a resounding 
success. 

 
 
The Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe, Sud‐Est and Ile‐de‐France network 
 
Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe,  in  association with Crédit Mutuel du  Sud‐Est  and, 

since 2002, with Crédit Mutuel  Ile‐de‐France, has 595 Local Banks  serving 3.7 million  clients, 
including nearly 2 million members. 

 
This mutual  bank  foundation, which  has  now  been  joined  by  Crédit Mutuel  Savoie 

Mont‐Blanc, is the basis for the groupʹs growth. Management has set a market share target of at 
least 10% in each region where the bank operates, which it plans to achieve by raising market 
awareness,  enhancing  competitiveness  and,  if  necessary,  adding  to  the  network,  as  in  2005 
when 16 new Local Banks were established. 

 
The quality of the relationships between the Local Banks and their clients and members 

has won wide recognition. According to a pan‐European report from Forrester Research, Crédit 
Mutuel  is  the French bank  that  is most  trusted by  its clients. Crédit Mutuel also ranks  first  in 
customer relationships, according to TNS Sofrès. 

 
In 2005, the Court of First Instance of the European Communities reversed the decision 

of the European Commission relating to the distribution of blue passbook accounts (livret bleu) 
and the state subsidies which Crédit Mutuel would have received. This decision has not being 
appealed and, as a result, the €70.1 million in provisions set aside by group entities were written 
back. 
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BFCM, the groupʹs refinancing arm  
 
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel (BFCM), a 95%‐owned subsidiary of Crédit Mutuel 

CEE‐SE‐IDF, continued, at an accelerated pace, to raise capital on the markets in its capacity as 
the central refinancing arm for the group and for the other Crédit Mutuel Federations that have 
entrusted it with this responsibility.  

 
In 2005, a single dealing room operation for the entire Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe 

– CIC group was set up by combining staff from BFCM, CIC and CIAL. Reorganised under the 
name CM‐CIC Marchés, the new dealing room provides the group with a resource that can be 
used  both  for  its  own  refinancing  needs  as well  as  for  offering  innovative  capital markets 
products to its clients.  

 
In  its  capacity  as  the groupʹs  central  refinancing  arm, BFCM had outstandings of €55 

billion  at  all  points  along  the  yield  curve.  In  order  to  diversify  its  financing  sources  and 
internationalise its investor base, BFCM issues both domestic and international securities. 

 
At the short end of the curve, BFCM is a leading issuer of euro commercial paper (ECP) 

with outstandings totalling more than €8 billion at the end of 2005. In addition, it raises capital 
on the interbank market and through the issue of negotiable certificates of deposit. 

 
Most medium‐term and long‐term resources were raised through its euro medium‐term 

note  (EMTN) programme, with borrowings  totalling nearly €16 billion at  the end of  the year. 
These  securities  are  placed  well  beyond  the  borders  of  the  euro  zone.  After  staging  a 
presentation of the group in Asia, Asian investors took up a large share of a €1 billion issue. The 
year also featured the issue of €850 million in super‐subordinated notes, which are classified as 
core equity for the purposes of regulatory ratios. 

 
 
CIC: a year of transition 
 
In 2005, CIC completed many of the multi‐year projects  it had previously commenced. 

The EIP information system shared with Crédit Mutuel was deployed at all CIC branches and 
most of  its  specialised  subsidiaries. The  retail network was  thoroughly  restructured  into  five 
major  regional divisions.  It has  expanded with  the  addition of  286 new branches  since  1999, 
with 210 having been relocated and 440 renovated. The CIC name has carved out an important 
position in the market and has achieved wide recognition.  

 
All  these efforts have paid off handsomely. By making retail banking  the  top priority, 

CIC added more than 160,000 new clients in 2005, speeded up customer loan production (with 
housing loans up by 32%) and made significant strides in bankinsurance. 

 
CICʹs  group  share  of  net  profit  for  the  year  rose  by  5.1%  to  €578 million,  from  €550 

million  in  2004. With  the  exception  of  capital markets  activities,  all  business  lines made  a 
positive contribution to earnings. 

-  - - 6 -



Net  banking  income  fell  by  3.2%  to  €3,266  million,  from  €3,374  million,  a  decline 
primarily  attributable  to  a  €388 million  drop  in  net  banking  income  from  capital markets 
activities. Net banking  income from retail banking, which accounted for 82% of the total, rose 
by 3% to €2,685 million from €2,608 million in 2004, resulting in pre‐tax profit of €660 million, 
up by 36.1% from €485 million the previous year. 

 
Private banking had net banking income of €331 million, up by 5.8% from €313 million 

in  2004, while  private  equity  investing  generated  €247 million,  3.5  times more  than  the  €70 
million recorded in the previous year, in particular thanks to the re‐measurement of the entire 
portfolio at fair value under IFRS. 

 
Net banking income from financing and capital markets activities plummeted from €431 

million  to  just  €17 million,  primarily  due  to  the  transfer  of  risks  on  the  structured  equity 
product  portfolio.  Since  this  portfolio  included  a  high  concentration  of  risks  on  certain 
durations and securities that could have resulted in significant losses, the decision was made to 
transfer  these  risks, which was  completed  by  31  December  2005.  Losses  on  these  transfers 
totalled €597 million and there was a management loss of €46 million in the first half of the year. 
After  factoring  in  the  €183 million  positive  impact  of  IFRS,  the  structured  products  activity 
trimmed €484 million  from  first‐half net banking  income and €320 million  from net after‐tax 
profit for the full year. 

 

 

Insurance, the critical vector of growth 
 

The  groupʹs  insurance  companies,  which  are  grouped  together  under  Groupe  des 
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel  – GACM), had  revenues of  €7.6 billion  in  2005,  an  increase of 
20%. Life insurance accounted for €5.9 billion of the total and non‐life €1.7 billion. GACMʹs 14.7 
million  policies  provide  insurance  to  5.8  million  policyholders  and  the  division  had 
consolidated profit of €377 million for the year.  
 

The insurance savings activity recorded an increase of 25.8% in revenues, outpacing the 
marketʹs 14% growth. This performance can be attributed, among other things, to the yields on 
the rangeʹs  flagship products, which were again high  in 2005: 4.05% on Retirement  Insurance 
Passbook accounts  (Livret Assurance Retraite) compared with 4.37%  in 2004, and 4.45% on  the 
Plan Patrimonio compared with 4.77% in 2004. Another contributing factor was the introduction 
of decision‐making software for help with retirement planning. 
 

Personal insurance (9.2% growth in revenues) also gained ground during the year, as the 
number  of  complementary  health  insurance  policies  increased  by  4.5%  to  458,300.  GACM 
enhanced its services to policyholders by introducing its Carte Avance Santé, a bank card which 
holders can use to pay their health‐related expenses. In addition, their accounts are debited only 
after Social Security and  the GACM  insurer have  reimbursed  their shares of  the expenditure, 
thus preventing policyholders from having to advance the full sums. 
 

GACM  is Franceʹs  leading bankinsurance provider of vehicle  insurance with nearly 1.5 
million policies. The division outgrew  the market with a 4.8%  increase  in premium  incomes, 
while at the same time making its prices even more competitive.  
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In  home  insurance, GACM  ranks  second  among  French  bankinsurers with  1,263,200 
policies in its portfolio. 
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For  the  first  time, Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe  and  its  subsidiaries  (BFCM, CIC, 

BECM, etc.) prepared their consolidated financial statements in accordance with the version of 
the  International Financial Reporting  Standards  (IFRS)  adopted by  the European Union. The 
version of IFRS used comprises the International Accounting Standards (IAS) and IFRS 1 to 5, 
their interpretations as adopted by the European Union and the June 2005 amendment to IAS 39 
on use of the fair value option, which has not yet been adopted by the European Union.  

 
The  consolidated  financial  statements  for  2004  were  prepared  in  accordance  with 

generally accepted accounting principles  in France. The  consolidated  financial  statements  for 
2004 prepared in accordance with ʺIFRS except for IAS 32‐39ʺ that are presented with the 2005 
consolidated financial statements were prepared under the 2004 version of IFRS, which did not 
include  IAS 32,  IAS 39 or  IFRS 4. These standards were applied as  from 1  January 2005, as  is 
allowed under IFRS 1. 

 
Total consolidated assets increased by 14% to €318.5 billion at the end of 2005. 

 

279.9 318.5

2004 2005

(in € billions)

Total assets

 
Deposit taking  

 
  Savings managed by  the group  totalled €310 billion at  the year end. During  the year, 
clients favoured life insurance and financial savings, encouraged by equity market gains, with 
the CAC 40 index rising by 23% in 2005. 
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Financial savings (mutual funds, employee savings plans, etc.) benefited from a range of 
products with high  returns which won numerous awards  in 2005. The  specialised  subsidiary 
CMCIC Asset Management won  the  ʺLaurier dʹorʺ awarded by  the magazine  Investir  for  the 
performance of its mutual funds over five years, and came in second among retail banks for its 
long‐term mutual  funds  in  the  ʺCorbeillesʺ awards  from Mieux Vivre  ‐ Votre Argent. Similarly, 
Crédit Mutuel Participation was awarded the label of excellence by Dossiers de lʹEpargne for its 
Activépargne employee savings plan.  

 
GACM  companies  had  total  assets  under management  of  €42  billion  in  the  form  of 

insurance, of which €18.6 billion for CIC clients.  
 
Thanks  to  the  expansion  of  its  business  base,  current  account  balances  once  again 

increased, reaching €30.7 billion at the year end. 
 

Trends in  savings
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                  Although home savings products continued to gain ground with outstandings of €16.8    
billion, they lost some of their saver appeal as the result of new tax provisions. 
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At  €6.4  billion,  blue passbook deposits  accounted  for  a  relatively  small  share  of  total 
outstandings, but remained popular as a prudential savings medium. 
 
Lending: continued rise 
 

 Savings deposits  are  intended primarily  as  a means  of  financing  customer  loans  and 
advances, which  totalled €122.8 billion at  the end of 2005 compared with €106.8 billion at  the 
start of the year (excluding accrued interest), an increase of 15%.  

 
Home  loans posted very  satisfactory growth  and  continued  to  spearhead  the  lending 

activity of the groupʹs banks at both Crédit Mutuel and CIC. These loans accounted for half of 
the  group  total  and  outstandings  increased  by  22.2%  during  the  year  to  €60.3  billion.  Two 
factors  accounted  for  this  growth:  a  competitive  product  offer  and  low  interest  rates which 
encouraged first‐time home buying. 
 

 

Customer loans and advances
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Short‐term  financing  recorded mixed  results with  cash  facilities up  by  18.6%  to  €25.3 
billion while overdrafts were unchanged at €5.6 billion. 

 
The group strengthened  its position  in  long‐term  financing with  investment credits up 

by 6.1% to €17.1 billion  
 
Thanks  to  the  groupʹs  selective  risk  exposure  and  hedging  policies,  non‐performing 

customer loans net of provisions were limited to 1.2%, their lowest level ever. 
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The groupʹs financial results can be summarised as follows: 
 
(in € millions) 2005

IFRS
2004

IFRS excl. 
IAS 32 and 

39

% change

Net banking income 6,141 5,775 +6% 

General operating expenses (including depreciation and amortisation) ‐3,817 ‐3,686 +4% 

Gross operating profit 2,324 2,089 +11% 

Consolidated net profit 1,610 1,268 +27% 
Group share 1,414 1,113 +27% 
Minority interests 196 154 +27% 

 
Net banking income increased by 6% compared with 2004 to €6.1 billion.  
 
The  group  pursued  its  development  strategy  of  adding  to  its  network  by 

opening new branches,  increasing staffing  levels and overhauling and harmonising 
systems, while keeping a tight rein on general operating expenses, which  increased 
by just 4%. 

 
The gross operating profit  for 2005 came  to €2.3 billion, a 27%  increase. The 

cost of risk declined sharply by 49% to €138 million.  
 
Consolidated net profit amounted to €1.6 billion, with the group share up by 

27% to €1.4 billion, the highest level ever achieved. 
 

 
 
Success built on the men and women of Crédit Mutuel and CIC 
 

Over the past few years, the groupʹs make‐up has changed considerably, first 
through the acquisition of CIC in 1998 and then through the partnerships concluded 
with  the Sud‐Est,  Ile‐de‐France and Savoie Mont‐Blanc Federations. Crédit Mutuel 
CEE‐SE‐IDF/CIC is justifiably pleased with the good results achieved in 2005, which 
have demonstrated the wisdom of its strategic direction.  

 
  However,  looking beyond  the figures, Crédit Mutuelʹs real success has been 
built on the groupʹs men and women. First of all, there are the 7.2 million clients who 
have placed their trust in the group and are efficiently served by its more than 38,000 
employees, and then, the 2 million members – both savers and borrowers – who are 
its  real  owners.  Lastly,  there  are  its  9,900  elected  directors  who  form  the  links 
between  the members,  the organisation and  its environment. This human  fabric of 
exceptional quality represents the groupʹs true wealth and its greatest strength. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
 

1.  LEGAL AND FINANCIAL BACKGROUND 
 
Pursuant to EU Regulation 1606/2002 concerning the application of international accounting 
standards, the consolidated financial statements of the Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe 
group for the year ended 31 December 2005 are prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union at that 
date. 
 
The IFRS applied for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements include all 
International Accounting Standards (IAS) and IFRS 1 to 5, their interpretations adopted by 
the European Union and the amendment of IAS 39 of June 2005 regarding the use of the fair 
value option not yet adopted by the European Union. 
 
The 2004 reported consolidated financial statements were prepared under French 
accounting standards. The 2004 “IFRS excluding 32-39” consolidated financial statements 
presented with the 2005 consolidated financial statements were prepared under 2004 IFRS, 
which do not include IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4. The latter have been applied effective 
1st January 2005 as allowed by IFRS 1. 
 

Note 1.1 Consolidating company 
 
Credit institution networks falling under a central body, within the meaning of Articles 
L.511-30 et seq. of the Monetary and Financial Code (Code Monétaire et Financier), have 
the option to determine several consolidating entities as they see fit. These consolidating 
entities comprise a group of credit institutions. 
 
Under this framework, the consolidating entity at the head of the Crédit Mutuel Centre Est 
Europe group is formed by the companies subject to the same collective authorisation for 
the exercise of banking business, as issued by the credit institutions and investment 
companies committee (Comité des établissements de crédit et des entreprises 
d’investissement – CECEI). 
 
As such, the consolidating entity comprises: 
 
- Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe (FCMCEE), Fédération du Crédit 

Mutuel Ile-de-France (FCMIDF) and Fédération des Caisses de Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est 
(FCMSE). FCMCEE is an association governed by local law in the Alsace Moselle region, 
while FCMIDF and FCMSE are associations subject to the law of 1st July 1901. As the 
policy bodies of the three groups, they establish their major orientations, determine 
their strategy and organise the banks’ representation. 

 
- Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe (CFCMCEE), a limited liability 

company with the status of a banking cooperative and subject to the law of 17 May 
1982. Serving the local banks, it is responsible for providing shared network services 
and the network’s operation and also provides logistics services to the group. It 
centralises the banks’ deposits, while also undertaking their refinancing and carries 
all the regulatory applications on their behalf (mandatory reserves, resources 
allocated, deposits placed with Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel, etc.).  

 
- Crédit Mutuel banks that are members of FCMCEE, FCMIDF or FCMSE, which are 

cooperative societies with limited liability or lending cooperative societies with open-
ended capital and limited liability. The latter constitute the basis of the group’s 
banking network. 
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Pursuant to the regulations, Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe, Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France 
and Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est prepare overall financial statements, which aim to present 
the financial statements of this group as if it consisted of a single entity. These overall 
financial statements form the financial statements of the consolidating company for the 
group. 

 
 

Note 1.2 Mechanism for the issue and redemption of the capital of the local 
banks of Crédit Mutuel 
 
The capital of the Crédit Mutuel banks consists of: 

 
- non-transferable A units, 
- negotiable B units,  
- P units paying priority interest. 

 
The B units can be subscribed only by members that hold at least one A unit. 
 
The internal regulations of the local banks limit subscription to B units by any given 
member to €35,000 (except for reinvested dividends paid in B units). 
 
Subsequent to the withdrawal of funds, the capital cannot be less than one quarter of the 
highest value of the capital historically. If this limit is reached, redemption of units will be 
suspended. 
 
The mechanism for the redemption of B units varies according to whether they were 
subscribed before or after 31 December 1988: 

 
- units subscribed up to 31 December 1988 may be redeemed at the member’s 

request on 1st January of each year. This redemption, which is made subject to 
compliance with the provisions covering the reduction of capital, is subject to a 
minimum of three months’ notice. 

 
- Units subscribed on or after 1st January 1989 may be redeemed at the member’s 

request by providing 5 years’ notice, except in the event of marriage, death or 
unemployment. These transactions are also subject to compliance with the 
provisions covering the reduction of capital. 

 
The bank may, by decision of the Board of Directors and with the agreement of the 
Supervisory Board, under the same conditions, redeem all or some of the units of this class. 
 
Pursuant to European Regulation 1073/2005 on interpretation IFRIC 2, and given the 
preceding provisions, B units are deemed to be equity capital.  
 
Furthermore, since 1999, the Crédit Mutuel bank known as Cautionnement Mutuel de 
l’Habitat has issued units with priority interest, known as P units. CCM Cautionnement 
Mutuel de l’Habitat is a mutual loan guarantee company. Subscription to P units is reserved 
for distributors of guaranteed loans outside the CEE group. 

 
The breakdown of the capital of the banks of Crédit Mutuel at 31 December 2005 was as 
follows: 

 
- €90.9 million in A units, compared with €85.2 million at 31 December 2004, 
 
- €3,131.2 million in B units, compared with €2,803.0 million at 31 December 2004, 
 
- €101.2 million in P units, compared with €72.6 million at 31 December 2004. 
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Note 1.3 IMPACT OF FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF THE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 

REPORTING STANDARDS ADOPTED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION 
 

The first-time adoption of IFRS was carried out in compliance with IFRS 1 - First-time 
adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. This standard provides for a 
retrospective application, with adjustment of the opening shareholders’ equity balance at 
1st January 2004 for the changes in accounting methods, with all mandatory or optional 
exceptions. When options were provided, the following accounting methods were applied: 

 
 Business combinations: no business combinations prior to 1st January 2004 have been 

restated. 
 
 Property, plant and equipment: reported at cost. The option of revaluing these assets 

at their fair value was not used. 
 
 Translation differences: as allowed by IFRS 1, these were zeroed out at 1st January 

2004 as an offset to consolidated reserves. 
  
 IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4 were applied with effect from 1st January 2005 without 

restatement of the 2004 financial statements, and notably that of the opening balance 
sheet at 1st January 2004. Reclassifications and changes in valuation were carried out 
on the opening balance sheet at 1st January 2005. 

 
 The hedge accounting described in IAS 39 and modified by the European Union has been 

applied prospectively with effect from 1st January 2005. Those hedging relationships 
described in the French accounting standards but which are not accepted under IFRS or 
for which it was decided not to reflect this hedging are reported in the opening balance 
sheet as assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Those whose hedging 
relationship is accepted under IFRS or that the Group was able to allocate to identified 
assets or liabilities (transactions previously qualified as macro hedges) were recognised 
as such in the opening IFRS balance sheet.  

 
 Financial products traded on an inactive market whose valuation is based on internal 

models and unobservable factors: the restatement of the margins generated during the 
trading of such products is retrospective for structured products. The reporting of this 
margin in profit or loss is dependent upon the type of structured product. 

 
 Private equity securities: all securities are measured on a market value basis. They are 

marked-to-market through profit or loss. 
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Note 1.4 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING METHODS 
 

In accordance with French accounting principles (laid down by the CNC), as with the IFRS 
principles, changes in accounting methods are applied retroactively in both company and 
consolidated financial statements, i.e. as if the new principles had always been applied. 
The impact of first-time adoption is reflected in shareholders’ equity at 1st January, i.e. as 
an adjustment to the opening balance sheet. As an exception to this rule, IFRS 1 authorises 
the first-time adoption of IAS 32 and IAS 39 (financial instruments) and IFRS 4 (insurance 
contracts) from 1st January 2005 onwards without the need to restate the 2004 financial 
statements 
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Note 1.5 TRANSITION FROM FRENCH GAAP TO IFRS 

 
The summary documents under IFRS are prepared by applying the presentation described in 
CNC standard 2004-R.03. To facilitate comparison of the IFRS profit and loss account, the 
profit and loss accounts for the period ended 31 December 2004 under IFRS (excluding IAS 
32-39) are also presented in IFRS format. In the 2004 summary documents presented in 
accordance with 2004 IFRS: 
 financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss include only those financial 

instruments in the trading portfolio.  
 financial assets available for sale include securities available for sale, private equity 

portfolio securities, investments in subsidiaries and in associates and all other long-
term investment securities. In 2004, these instruments were still recognised in 
accordance with French GAAP prevailing at 31 December 2004. 

 
Principal restatements made in 2004 to the profit and loss account 
 Depreciation of buildings by component and non amortisation of leasehold rights 
 Impact of deferred taxes 
 Spreading of the lease-back gains over the life of the lease-back contract, net of tax 

effect 
 Non amortisation of goodwill 

 
Principal reclassifications made to the 2004 profit and loss account  
 Reclassification of dividends on equities and other variable-yield securities and 

grouping of all other operating income and charges from banking activities, as well as 
the gross profit from all insurance activities 

 Reclassification of the gains or losses on disposals of securities that are classified as 
long-term investments under French accounting standards and as assets available for 
sale under IFRS into net income from financial transactions 

 Reclassification of dividends from transactions involving the lending and borrowing of 
securities into net income from financial transactions  

 Reclassification of the amortisation of premiums on debt securities from income to 
charges 
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Note 1.6 PREPARATION OF THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 
The cash flow statement was prepared using the indirect method. To determine net cash 
flows from operating activities, net profit is adjusted to take account of the impact of non-
cash items and items for which the cash impact consists of cash flows from investing or 
financing activities. 

Cash and cash equivalents are defined in accordance with their intrinsic characteristics, 
which are their immediate availability or convertibility in the very short term into a known 
amount of cash whose value is not likely to change materially. 
 
Cash includes the cash on hand and deposits and borrowings with the Central Bank and the 
post office accounts authority. Cash equivalents comprise sight or overnight loans and 
borrowings entered into with credit institutions. 
 
The various cash flows relative to a period are classified by purpose as arising from 
operating, investing or financing activities, although any one transaction may include cash 
flows classified in more than one type of activity. 
 
Operating cash flows are those arising from operating activities that contribute to the bulk 
of net profit, including proprietary trading activities. Included as such among operating 
activities are all cash flows related to securities at fair value through profit or loss and to 
equities and other variable-yield securities, consisting of short-term investments or 
investments relative to portfolio activities, and fixed-income securities available for sale.  
 
The cash flows from other transactions affecting financial assets or liabilities include 
changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. By 
default, all cash flows that do not qualify as arising from investing or financing activities 
are classified under this activity. 
 
Investing activities are defined as the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other 
investments not included in cash equivalents or operating activities. These include notably 
all investments in associates and other variable-yield securities held long-term not related 
to portfolio activities and all fixed-income securities held to maturity. 
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Cash flows from financing activities include changes in capital and movements related to 
the issue or repayment of borrowings or subordinated debt. By choice, interbank and other 
negotiable debt securities are classified under operating activities. 
 
Revenues (interest and dividends) from investing activities and interest from financing 
activities, insofar as they do not represent resources allocated to the activities generating 
them, are allocated to operating activities. Pre-tax gains and losses on disposals continue 
to be allocated to their underlying activities. 
 

Note 1.7 PRO FORMA IFRS BALANCE SHEET AND PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 
AT 31 DECEMBER 2004 

 
These documents are presented with the valuations calculated in accordance with 2004 
IFRS (excluding IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4) and with the CNC presentation used for the 
publication of the 2004 financial statements. 
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2.  CONSOLIDATION SCOPE 

 
Note 2.1 DEFINITION OF THE CONSOLIDATION SCOPE 

 
The consolidation scope includes: 
 
- Companies controlled exclusively, for which the consolidating entity is in a position to 

direct their financial and operational policies; 
- Companies controlled jointly, for which control is shared between a limited number of 

shareholders; 
- Companies over which significant influence is exercised, which are not controlled by 

the consolidating entity but in whose financial and operational policies it participates. 
 
The accounts of companies controlled exclusively are fully consolidated. Exclusive control 
is presumed when the Group owns, directly or indirectly, a majority holding in the capital 
and either the majority of the voting rights or the power to appoint the majority of the 
members of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies when the Group 
exercises dominant influence. 
 
A special-purpose entity is consolidated when the conditions defined in SIC12 (the entity’s 
activities are carried out exclusively on the Group’s behalf, the Group has decision-making 
or management power to obtain the majority of the benefits deriving from the entity’s 
ordinary activities and the capacity to profit from the entity’s benefits, and retains the 
majority of the risks) are met. 
 
The securities of companies over which the Group exercises significant influence, through a 
direct or indirect holding of at least 20% of the voting rights, are accounted for using the 
equity method. Holdings of between 20% and 50% belonging to private equity companies are 
excluded from the consolidation scope and are recognised at fair value through profit or 
loss by option. 
 
Companies controlled by the consolidating entity or over which it exercises significant 
influence, but which are not material in relation to the consolidated accounts, are 
excluded from the consolidation scope. This is presumed to be the case when the 
company’s total assets or net profit represent less than 1% of the corresponding lines at 
group level (or sub-group level, in the case of a consolidation in stages). This quantitative 
criterion is relative. An entity may be included in the consolidation scope even though it is 
not material, when the investment is considered to be of strategic interest by virtue of the 
entity’s activities or its expected development. 
 
Changes in the consolidation scope for the year ended 31 December 2005 were: 
 
• First-time consolidation of Banque de Tunisie (20%-owned by CIC), Atout Assurance (a 

Luxembourg limited company [société anonyme] that is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Banque du Luxembourg), Banque Transatlantique Belgium (a wholly-owned subsidiary), 
the Luxembourg entities Cigogne Management and Cigogne Fund, and several entities 
holding securities;  

• Merger of CIC Développement with EID, merger of SCI du Champ de Mars with CIO, 
merger of UBR with CIC, and merger of the following companies into ACM Retraite: SCI 
Bastille, SCI Berger, SCI Brant, SCI Le Discover, SCI Gaia Sophia, SCI Green, SCI Lille, SCI 
Pelletan Camil, SCI Port Nogen, SCI Rouget de Lisle, SNC Bruyère, and SNC Mathurins; 

• Deconsolidation of Compagnie de Finance pour l’Industrie (CFI) due to it having ceased 
business.  
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Note 2.2 CONSOLIDATION SCOPE 
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3.  ACCOUNTING METHODS 
 
All International Financial Reporting Standards have been applied with effect from 
1st January 2004, other than IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4 which have been applied with effect 
from 1st January 2005.  
 
The summary documents under IFRS are presented in accordance with CNC Standard 2004-
R.03. 
 
 
 

Note 3.1  SECURITIES ACQUIRED 
 
IAS 39 defines three categories of securities: 

- financial assets held to maturity 
- financial assets available for sale 
- financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 

 
 
Financial assets held to maturity 
 
Classification  
Financial assets held to maturity are fixed-income or determinable-yield financial assets 
that must be listed on an active market and that the Group has the intention and the ability 
to hold until maturity and has decided not to classify as financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss or as financial instruments available for sale. The criteria concerning 
intention and ability to hold the securities until maturity are verified at each period end. 

 
Valuation basis and recognition of income and charges 
These securities are recorded upon acquisition at their fair value. Transaction costs are 
spread as they are incorporated in the calculation of the effective interest rate, except 
when they are not material in which case they are recorded in the profit and loss account 
at the outset. At subsequent period ends, these securities are measured at their amortised 
cost in accordance with the effective interest rate method, which includes amortisation of 
all premiums and discounts, corresponding to the difference between the acquisition and 
redemption values of these securities. 
 
Income received from these securities is presented under “Interest and similar income” in 
the profit and loss account. 
 
Measurement and recognition of impairment for credit risk 
Impairment of financial assets held to maturity is recognised in the same manner as for 
loans and receivables when their value is affected by a credit risk. 
 
 
Financial assets available for sale 
 
Classification  
Financial assets available for sale include financial assets not classified in loans and 
receivables or in financial assets held to maturity or at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Valuation basis and recognition of income and charges 
These assets are recognised on the balance sheet at their market value when they are 
acquired and at subsequent period ends until such time as they are disposed of. Changes in 
fair value are recorded under a specific shareholders’ equity heading entitled “Unrealised 
or deferred gains or losses.” These unrealised gains or losses recognised in shareholders’ 
equity are recognised in the profit and loss account only when the assets are disposed of or 
when evidence of permanent impairment is observed. 
 

Income accrued or received on fixed-income securities is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with 
the effective interest rate method in “Interest and similar income”. 
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Dividends received on variable-yield securities are recorded in profit and loss under “Net 
gains or losses on financial assets available for sale”.  
 
Impairment of financial assets available for sale 
Impairment is recognised on financial assets available for sale in the event of a prolonged 
and/or material decline in fair value relative to cost. Losses for permanent impairment of 
“Equities and other variable-yield securities” available for sale recorded in profit or loss 
are irreversible as long as the instrument is carried on the balance sheet. They are 
recognised in “Net gains or losses on financial assets available for sale”.  
 
Losses for permanent impairment of “Bonds and other fixed-income securities” available 
for sale are reversible and are recognised under “Cost of risk” when they concern credit 
risk.  

 

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Classification 
The category “Financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss” includes:  
 

a) Financial instruments held for trading purposes. These concern primarily 
instruments which:  
a. were acquired to be resold or repurchased in the short-term, or which  
b. are incorporated in a portfolio of financial instruments managed on an overall 

basis for which there exists an effective and recent schedule for the taking of 
short-term gains, or which  

c. constitute an unqualified derivative hedging instrument;  
 

b) Financial instruments classified by choice from the outset at fair value through 
profit or loss pursuant to the option provided by IAS 39, the conditions of 
application of which were specified by the amendment published in June 2005. The 
application of the fair value option is intended to produce more pertinent financial 
information, with notably: 
a. the measurement at fair value of certain composite financial instruments 

without separation of any embedded derivatives for which a separate valuation 
would not have been sufficiently accurate; 

b. a significant reduction of distortions of accounting methods between certain 
assets and liabilities; 

c. the management and tracking of the performances of a group of assets and/or 
liabilities constituted as part of a risk management or investment strategy is 
carried out at fair value. In particular, this category includes private equity 
securities and balance sheet items relating to market activities. 

 
Valuation basis and recognition of income and charges 
The instruments classified in this category are recognised on the balance sheet at their fair 
value when they are first recorded and at all subsequent period ends until such time as 
they are disposed of. Changes in fair value are recorded in the profit and loss account 
under “Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”. 
Revenues received or accrued on fixed-income securities classified in this category are 
presented under “Interest and similar income” in the profit and loss account. Purchases and 
sales of securities measured at fair value through profit or loss are recognised on the 
settlement date. Changes in fair value occurring between the transaction and settlement 
dates are recognised in profit or loss. The valuation of the counterparty risk on these 
securities is taken into account in the fair value.  



 

- 35 - 

 
Fair value or market value 
Fair value is the amount at which an asset could be exchanged or a liability extinguished, 
between informed and consenting parties, acting under normal competitive conditions. 
When an instrument is first recognised its fair value is generally the transaction price. If a 
financial instrument is listed on an active market, the fair value is the listed price or 
market value, as this is the best estimate of its fair value. The listed price of an asset held 
or a liability to be issued is generally the proposed selling price (bid), while the proposed 
purchase price (ask) is used for liabilities held or assets to be acquired. 
 
In the event of equal and opposite asset and liability positions, only the net position is 
valued: this is calculated on the basis of the bid price if it involves a net asset or net 
liability to be issued and on the basis of the ask price if it involves a net liability or net 
asset to be acquired. 
 
A market is said to be active when listed prices are easily and frequently available and 
these prices represent actual and regularly occurring transactions under normal 
competitive conditions for highly similar financial instruments. When a market is not 
active, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. 
 
Derivative products are measured using data observable in the market (e.g. yield curves). 
The notion of bid/ask must then be applied to these observable data. For private equity 
securities, a multi-criteria approach is used, supplemented by experience in valuing 
unlisted companies. 

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss - derivatives  
A derivative is a financial instrument: 
a) whose fair value depends on interest rates, the price of a financial instrument, the 

price of a commodity, exchange rates, an index of interest rate or credit prices, or 
any other variable referred to as an underlying; 

b) that requires a low net investment, or none, or one that is lower than for a non 
derivative financial instrument in order to obtain the same sensitivity to changes in 
the underlying; 

c) that is unwound at a future date. 
 
Derivatives are classified among financial instruments held for trading purposes, except 
when they are part of a hedging relationship. They are recognised at their fair value on the 
balance sheet among financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in 
fair value and interest accrued or due are recognised in net gains and losses on financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss.  
 
Those hedging derivatives that meet the criteria required by IAS 39 to be qualified from an 
accounting standpoint as hedging instruments are classified in the categories “Fair value 
hedges” or “Cash flow hedges” as appropriate. All other derivatives are, by default, 
classified as trading assets or liabilities, even if from an economic standpoint they were 
entered into in order to hedge one or more risks. 
 
Embedded derivatives 
A derivative embedded into a host contract must be recognised separately when its 
economic characteristics and the associated risks are not closely related to those of the 
host contract. When the host contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
the embedded derivative or derivatives is or are detached from the host contract and 
recognised separately as a derivative instrument. 

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss - derivatives - structured 
products 
Structured products are financial structures offered to customers to more closely meet 
their specific needs. They are constructed using standard products, generally options. 
There are different types of categories of structured products based on the following 
standard products: traditional options, binary options, barrier options, Asian options, look-
back options, options on several assets, and index swaps. 
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There are three main types of method for valuing such products: methods based on solving 
a partial differential equation, methods employing arborescence over discrete intervals and 
Monte-Carlo methods. The first and last methods are used. The analytical methods applied 
are those used by the market to model the underlyings used.  
 
The valuation parameters used are those observed or deduced via a standard model of the 
values observed at the period end. In the event that no organised market exists, the values 
used are obtained from the most active intermediaries in the corresponding products 
and/or extrapolated from listed values. A historical record is maintained of all parameters 
used. Non-listed forward financial instruments are valued using observable market prices, 
in accordance with the so-called “snapshot” procedure. The latter method consists of 
obtaining the bid and ask prices each day at the same time from several market players 
using computerised market data applications. A single price is retained for each useful 
market parameter. 
 
Certain complex financial instruments, and primarily mono- and multi-underlying barrier-
structured equity products, generally custom-built, relatively illiquid and with long 
maturities, are valued using in-house models and valuation factors such as long volatilities, 
correlations, and estimates of dividends for that portion unobservable in active markets. 
When first recognised, these complex instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at the 
transaction price, which is considered to be the best indication of their market value even 
though the valuation generated by the models may be different. This difference between 
the traded price of the complex instrument and the value obtained using the in-house 
model, generally a gain, is called the “Day one profit and loss.” Accounting regulations 
prohibit the recognition of profits made on products valued using models and factors not 
observable in active markets, and they are thus deferred over time. When this concerns 
mono-underlying non-barrier products, the margin is spread over the life of the instrument. 
On products incorporating barrier options, given the specific risks related to the 
management of these barriers, the profit is recognised upon the maturity of the structured 
product. 

Hedge accounting 
IAS 39 provides for three forms of hedging relationships. The choice of the hedging 
relationship is made based on the nature of the risk that is hedged. Fair value hedges 
provide hedging of exposure to changes in the fair value of financial assets or liabilities, 
and are used notably to hedge the interest rate risk on fixed-rate assets and liabilities as 
well as demand deposits in the context of the options provided under European Union 
regulations. Cash flow hedges are used to hedge exposure to changes in the cash flows of 
financial assets or liabilities, firm commitments and futures transactions. They are used 
notably to hedge interest rate risk on variable-rate assets and liabilities, including their 
renewal, and foreign exchange risk on highly probable future revenues denominated in 
foreign currencies. One specific example of cash flow hedges is the hedging of net 
investments denominated in foreign currencies. 
 
The Group documents the relationship between the instrument covered and the hedging 
instrument right from the moment the hedging relationship is set in place. This 
documentation includes the management objectives of the hedging relationship, the nature 
of the risk hedged, the underlying strategy, identification of the hedging instrument and of 
the item hedged, and the methods used to measure the effectiveness of the hedging. 
 
The Group evaluates this effectiveness when the hedging relationship is set in place, and 
subsequently throughout its life, at the very least at each period end. The ineffective 
portion of the hedge is recognised in the profit and loss account in “Net gains or losses on 
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”. 
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Fair value hedges 
That portion corresponding to the rediscounting of the derivative financial instrument is 
recognised in the profit and loss account in “Interest income and charges – Hedging 
derivatives” symmetrically to the interest income or charges for the item hedged. 
 
In the case of a fair value hedge, derivatives are measured at their fair value as an offset to 
the profit and loss account in “Net gains and losses on financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss” symmetrically to the revaluation of the risk of the items hedged in 
profit or loss. This rule is also applied if the item hedged is recognised at its amortised cost 
or in the case of a financial asset classified as available for sale. If the hedging relationship 
is perfectly effective, the change in the fair value of the hedging instrument offsets that of 
the item hedged. 
 
The hedging relationship must be considered to be “highly effective” to qualify for hedge 
accounting. The change in the fair value or cash flow hedge must nearly offset the change 
in the value of the item whose fair value or cash flows are hedged. The ratio of these two 
changes must fall within the range of 80% to 125%. 
 
If necessary, hedge accounting ceases to be applied on a prospective basis. In the event 
that the hedging relationship is interrupted or the effectiveness criteria are not respected, 
hedge accounting ceases to be applied on a prospective basis. The hedging derivatives are 
transferred to trading instruments and are recognised in accordance with the principles 
applicable to this category. The value on the balance sheet of the item hedged is 
subsequently no longer adjusted to reflect changes in fair value and the cumulative 
adjustments for the recognition of the hedge are amortised over the remaining life of the 
item hedged. If the items hedged are no longer recognised on the balance sheet due 
notably to early repayments, the cumulative adjustments are recognised immediately in 
the profit and loss account. 

Fair value hedges of interest rate risk by portfolio  
This hedging relationship is used to hedge structural interest rate risk in total. The 
modifications made by the European Union to IAS 39 in October 2004 enable customer 
demand deposits to be included within portfolios of fixed-rate liabilities.  
 
For each portfolio of assets or liabilities, the maturity schedule of the hedging derivatives is 
compared to the maturity schedule of the items hedged to ensure that there is no over-
hedging; this is to be established by maturity range at each period end.  
 
The fixed-rate liability portfolio may include customer demand deposits, with maturities 
based on the run-off assumptions defined by the asset-liability management unit. 
 
Changes in the fair value of the interest rate risk of portfolios of hedged instruments are 
recorded in a specific line of the balance sheet “Revaluation difference on portfolios 
hedged against interest rate risk” as an offset to the profit and loss account. 

Cash flow hedges 
In the case of cash flow hedging relationships, gains or losses on hedging instruments 
considered effective are recorded in a specific line of shareholders’ equity called 
“Unrealised or deferred gains or losses on cash flow hedges” while that portion considered 
ineffective is recorded in the profit and loss account in “Net gains or losses on financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss”.  
 
Amounts recorded in shareholders’ equity are recovered through profit or loss in “Interest 
income and charges” symmetrically to the flows of the item hedged that impact the profit 
and loss account. The items hedged continue to be recognised in accordance with the rules 
specific to their accounting category. 
 
In the event that the hedging relationship is interrupted or the effectiveness criteria are 
not respected, hedge accounting ceases to be applied. The cumulative amounts recorded in 
shareholders’ equity for the revaluation of the hedging derivative are maintained in 
shareholders’ equity until such time as the hedged transaction itself impacts the profit and 
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loss account or when it is determined that the transaction will not take place. These 
amounts are then transferred to profit or loss.  
 

Note 3.2 REGULATED SAVINGS CONTRACTS 
 

Home Savings Accounts (Comptes Epargne Logement - CEL) and Programmes (Plans Epargne 
Logement - PEL) are French regulated products available to individual customers. These 
products provide retail investors with interest-bearing savings vehicles during a first phase, 
and grant them access to a mortgage during a second phase. These CEL and PEL generate 
two kinds of commitments for the establishments that distribute them: 

• a future fixed-rate interest commitment on the remuneration of the savings (solely 
on the PEL, as the interest rate on the CEL is comparable to a variable rate and is 
periodically revised in accordance with an indexation formula); 

• a commitment to extend a loan based on predetermined conditions to those 
customers requesting one (on both PEL and CEL). 
These commitments were estimated on the basis of customer behavioural statistics and 
market data. A provision is set aside on the liability side of the balance sheet to cover the 
future charges related to the potentially disadvantageous conditions of these products in 
comparison with the interest rates offered to individual customers for products that are 
similar but whose conditions of remuneration are not regulated. This approach is carried 
out by homogeneous generation in terms of the regulated conditions for PEL and CEL. The 
impact on earnings is recorded along with interest paid to customers.  

 
 

Note 3.3  DEBT SECURITIES 
 

Debt securities are recognised at their fair value (generally the net amount received) when 
first recorded on the balance sheet, and are measured at subsequent period ends at their 
amortised cost in accordance with the effective interest rate method.  
 
Certain “structured” debt instruments may include embedded derivatives. The embedded 
derivatives are broken out from the host contracts when the criteria for separation are met 
and when they can be measured accurately. The host contract is subsequently recognised 
at its amortised cost. Fair values are calculated on the basis of listed market prices or 
valuation models.  
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Note 3.4 VALUATIONS OF RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are fixed- or determinable-income financial assets not listed on an 
active market. They include loans granted directly or the bank’s share of syndicated loans, 
loans acquired and non-listed debt securities. When first recorded on the balance sheet 
they are recognised at their market value, which is generally the net amount disbursed, 
and at subsequent period ends, they are valued at their amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. 
 
All commissions received or paid relating directly to the setting in place of the loan and 
resembling interest are spread over the life of the loan in accordance with the effective 
interest rate method and are recorded in the profit and loss account among interest items. 

Provisions for impairment of loans and receivables, loan commitments and guarantee 
obligations 
 
Provision for impairment of loans 
Impairment is recognised once there is objective evidence of the existence of an event 
occurring subsequent to the loan – or group of loans – being set in place that is likely to 
generate a loss. An analysis is performed on a contract-by-contract basis at each period 
end. The amount of impairment is equal to the difference between the carrying value and 
the present value of the projected future cash flows discounted at the original interest rate 
on the loan. With variable rate loans, the last contractual rate known is used.  
 
The existence of maturities overdue for more than 3 months, 6 months for mortgages and 9 
months for local governments represents objective proof of a loss event. Similarly, an 
objective indication of loss is identified when it is probable that the debtor will not be able 
to repay all the amounts due or when a default event has taken place or in the event of a 
court-ordered liquidation. 
 
Impairment is recognised in the form of a provision, and all corresponding charges and 
recoveries are reflected in the cost of risk with the exception of the impact of the passage 
of time associated with the discounting mechanism, which is recognised as interest income 
within net banking income. The provision is deducted from the asset for the impairment of 
loans and as a liability among provisions for risks on loan commitments and guarantee 
obligations. 

Collective loan provisions 
All loans to customers not written down for impairment on an individual basis are subjected 
to risk analysis by homogeneous portfolios of loans, on the basis of the observed erosion of 
internal or external ratings, the probability of default to maturity, the loss rate and the 
level of loan outstandings.  

 
 
Note 3.5 ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DENOMINATED IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES 

 
Assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the local currency are 
translated at the exchange rate ruling at the period end. Monetary financial assets or 
liabilities: foreign exchange gains or losses arising from these translations are recognised in 
the profit and loss account under “Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss”.  
 
Non-monetary financial assets or liabilities: foreign exchange gains or losses arising from 
these translations are recognised in the profit and loss account under “Net gains or losses 
on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” if the item is classified under 
fair value through profit or loss, or under “Unrealised or deferred gains or losses” if the 
item is classified under financial assets available for sale. 
 
When consolidated securities denominated in a foreign currency are funded by a borrowing 
in that same foreign currency, the future cash flows of the latter are hedged. 
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Note 3.6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
Non-current assets reported on the balance sheet include property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets used in operations and investment properties. Operating non-current 
assets are used for the production of services or for administrative purposes. They include 
all assets other than real property held for rent to third parties. Investment properties are 
real property held for rental income and to generate gains on the invested capital. The 
historical cost method is used to account for both investment and operating properties. 
 
Non-current assets are recognised at cost plus all directly allocatable charges required to 
put them in working order with a view to being used. Finance charges incurred during the 
construction or transformation of real assets are not capitalised. 
 
After they are first recorded on the balance sheet, non-current assets are measured at 
their amortised historical cost, i.e. their cost less accumulated depreciation and 
amortisation and any impairment. 
 
The depreciable or amortisable value of a non-current asset is determined after deducting 
its residual value net of disposal costs. As the useful life of non-current assets is generally 
equal to their expected economic life, residual values are not recognised.  
 
Non-current assets are depreciated or amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life during which they will generate economic benefits. Non-current assets with an 
indefinite useful life are not amortised. Depreciation and amortisation charges are 
recognised under “Depreciation, amortisation and impairment provisions” in the profit and 
loss account. 
 
When a non-current asset comprises several components likely to be replaced at regular 
intervals, with different uses or providing economic benefits over differing lengths of time, 
each component is recognised separately from the outset and is depreciated in accordance 
with its own schedule. The component approach has been selected for both operating and 
investment properties. 
 
The following depreciable lives are used for buildings: 

- 40-80 years for shells 
- 15-30 years for enclosures and roofing 
- 10-25 years for equipment 
- 10 years for fixtures and fittings. 

 
For intangible assets, lease rights paid are not amortised but instead are tested for 
impairment. Entry rights paid to owners are amortised over the term of the lease as an 
additional rental payment and other items comprising business goodwill are amortised over 
10 years (acquisition of customer contract portfolios). 
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Depreciable non-current assets are tested for impairment at each period end when 
evidence of loss of value is identified. Non-depreciable non-current assets are tested for 
impairment once each year. 
 
If evidence of impairment is found, the asset’s recoverable value is compared to its net 
carrying value. In the event of a loss of value, impairment is recognised in the profit and 
loss account, thus modifying the asset’s depreciable base going forward. Impairment losses 
are reversed to reflect improvements in the estimate of the asset’s recoverable value or 
should evidence of impairment no longer exist. Impairment is recognised under 
“Depreciation, amortisation and impairment provisions” in the profit and loss account. 
 
Gains or losses on disposals of operating non-current assets are recorded on the line “Net 
gains on other non-current assets” in the profit and loss account. 
  
Gains or losses on disposals of investment properties are recorded in the profit and loss 
account on the lines “Income from other activities” or “Losses on other activities”. 
 

Note 3.7 PROVISIONS AND DISPUTES 
 
Charges to and recoveries of provisions for risks and charges are classified by type under 
the corresponding income and charge items. 
 
A provision is set aside when it is probable that it will be necessary to provide resources 
representing economic benefits to extinguish an obligation arising from a past event and 
when the amount of the obligation can be estimated accurately. The net present value of 
this obligation is calculated to determine the amount of provision to be set aside. 
 
Moreover, the 15 January 2002 decision of the European Commission requesting the 
reimbursement of state aid that was said to have been granted to Crédit Mutuel concerning 
the management of the livret bleu passbook savings programme was voided by a decision of 
the Court of First Instance of the European Community on 18 January 2005. As the European 
Commission has not appealed the decision of the Court of First Instance, the latter has 
voided the fine that had been levied. Write-back provisions have been done for CMCEE 
Group for an amount of € 70.1 million 

Note 3.8 CAPITALISATION RESERVES AND TECHNICAL PROVISIONS OF INSURANCE 
COMPANIES 
 
Capitalisation reserves are intended to cover any impairment in the value of the assets 
carried by insurance companies or any reduction in their revenues. 
 
In accordance with CRC Standard 2000-05, transfers to and from the capitalisation reserve 
are eliminated on consolidation. When this regulation was applied for the first time, the 
balance of the capitalisation reserve on 1 January 2001 was reclassified under shareholders' 
equity. A deffered tax  has been recorded. 
 As this item is covered by IFRS 4, no additional restatement has been performed for IFRS. A 
deferred tax liability of €144.9 million was raised at 31 December 2005 relating to the 
reclassification of the capitalisation reserve in shareholders’ equity. 
 
Technical provisions reflect obligations towards policyholders. They are determined in 
accordance with regulations and generally accepted accounting principles. Technical 
provisions relating to unit-linked policies are determined by reference to the realisable 
value of the assets underlying the policies. 
 
The method recommended by CRC Standard 2000-05 in preference to other acceptable 
methods, which consists in calculating life insurance technical provisions by applying a 
discount rate equal to or lower than the cautiously estimated rate of return expected from 
admissible assets, was not applied by the Group's insurance companies, as it was estimated 
that this would not increase the amount of such provisions. At the same time, provisions for 
financial contingencies and general management provisions were eliminated on 
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consolidation. Those provisions for equalisation likely to accrue to policyholders are 
restated as provisions for profit sharing. Those provisions for equalisation set aside to 
recognise risks of natural disasters and terrorist attacks are maintained in the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
In the event of evidence of impairment, the entire loss recorded in shareholders’ equity at 
the end of the period is transferred into the profit and loss account. No recovery of 
impairment is possible. 
 
Provisions that have been set aside on non-life insurance companies are adequate in the 
light of French regulations. 
 
Provisions that have been set aside on life insurance companies are adequate insofar as the 
inventory of outstanding contracts is concerned. 
 
In compliance with IFRS, the entire capitalisation reserve has been reclassified into 
shareholders’ equity. 
 

Note 3.9 EMPLOYEE PROFIT SHARING AND INCENTIVE SCHEMES 
 
Charges relating to employee profit-sharing and incentive schemes are included on the line 
“Staff costs” in the profit and loss account for the year in which they are incurred. 
  

Note 3.10 PENSION AND OTHER SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS 
 
Pension obligations and similar benefits have been recognised and valued in accordance 
with CNC Standard 2003-R01 since 1st January 2004.  
 
If applicable, a provision is set aside for these obligations and any changes are recognised 
in the profit and loss for the period. The calculation of pension and similar obligations 
assumes a discount rate determined with reference to the long-term market rate paid by 
top-tier credit institutions. The rate of increase of staff costs is measured using a long-term 
estimate of inflation and increases in real wages. 

PENSION SCHEMES 
 
Defined post-employment benefits  
These obligations are calculated in accordance with the projected unit credit method to 
determine the present value of the obligation and the cost of the services rendered during 
the year, on the basis of the aforementioned assumptions. Differences generated by any 
changes in these assumptions and by differences between previous assumptions and actual 
experience give rise to actuarial differences.  
 
When the scheme is funded by assets, the latter are measured at fair value and impact the 
profit and loss account for their expected yield. Differences between actual and expected 
yields give rise to actuarial differences. Actuarial differences are established by scheme 
and deferred, excluding that fraction which, at the end of the preceding year, exceeds 10% 
of the higher of the obligation or the scheme assets at the end of the year. This fraction is 
recognised in the profit and loss account of the year in the form of provisions. Any 
reductions or liquidations of schemes generate a change in the obligation which is 
recognised in the profit and loss account for the year.  
 
Supplemental AFB retirement plans with pension organisations 
Following the professional agreement signed on 13 September 1993, employees of Group 
banks affiliated with the French Bankers’ Association (AFB) joined the national multi-
employer retirement plans operated by ARRCO and AGIRC. Under this agreement, the bank 
remains liable for benefits in excess of those provided by ARRCO and AGIRC. This liability 
represents the vested rights of retired and serving employees as at 31 December 1993. Full 
provision is made for the bank’s actuarial commitments towards these organisations. The 
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coverage of actuarial obligations in respect of benefits is provided by CRPB, which did not 
call any premiums in 2005 as the technical provision exceeded needs. The obligations in 
respect of the CIC’s specific pension schemes for banks are estimated in full every two 
years by an actuary; the last estimate was performed at 31 December 2004. 

End of service indemnities and service awards 
Future end of service indemnities and bonuses to be paid at the time of the attribution of 
service awards are covered in full by insurance contracts or provisions. These commitments 
are calculated in accordance with the projected unit credit method, as required by IFRS. 
Calculations take account of the rates of mortality in the INSEE TV 88-90 table, the rate of 
staff turnover, the rate of increase in salaries, the applicable rate of payroll taxes and the 
discount rate (a market rate determined with reference to the yield on government bonds 
and the actuarial duration of the commitments, i.e. 3.60% in 2005). Commitments 
corresponding to the rights acquired by staff at 31 December 2005 are covered in full by 
the reserves set aside with the insurance company. This being the case, no additional 
payment was called for in 2005. All end of service indemnities and service awards that 
matured and were paid to staff during the year were reimbursed by the insurance company.  

CARMUT 
In addition to the mandatory pension schemes, CEE/SE/IDF group staff also enjoy additional 
benefits paid by Caisse de Pension du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe (CARMUT), a jointly-
managed pension fund organisation qualified under French law as a supplemental pension 
institution (Institution de Retraite Supplémentaire). CARMUT operates by capitalisation and 
manages two schemes, a defined contribution scheme in points and an additive-type 
defined benefits scheme. All contributions and premiums are paid by the employers. At 
31 December 2005, the special technical provisions recorded for all participants among 
CARMUT’s liabilities amounted respectively to €395.6 million for the defined contribution 
scheme and €50.6 million for the defined benefits scheme. The actuarial valuation of the 
defined benefits scheme is performed by an independent actuarial firm by applying the unit 
cost by year of service method. Commitments under this scheme are covered in exchange 
for an annual premium charged to the employers, equal to 1.70% of total payroll and 
recognised in charges for the year. CARMUT, which is subject to the French Social Security 
Code, was created in the interest of the beneficiaries and is jointly managed. Economic 
benefits accrue solely to the affiliated members, and decision-making power, which is 
shared jointly by representatives of both management and staff, can only be exercised in 
the exclusive interest of the beneficiaries. Consequently, CARMUT is not included in the 
IFRS consolidation scope in the light of the criteria for consolidation defined by IAS 27, 
based essentially on the notion of control or of influence.  
 
EARLY RETIREMENT 
A master agreement on the application in the CIC group of the early retirement measures 
for the banking industry was signed on 27 June 2001.  
 
The CIC and most of the regional banks of the CIC group have set this agreement in place. It 
allows beneficiaries to cease their professional activity two to three years prior to their 
official retirement date while receiving an allocation equal to between 57.5% and 65% of 
their salary. Employees may opt into this programme at any time until 31 March 2006.  
 
The total future charge was estimated for the entire period during which this agreement 
will apply. This charge is provisioned on a straight-line basis from the date the agreement 
came into force (i.e. the date on which it was approved by the Minister of Employment) to 
the date on which the employee may opt for early retirement under the terms of this 
agreement. Given the brief period this agreement will be in effect, future cash flows were 
not discounted and provision was not made for future increases in salaries. The percentage 
of potential beneficiaries who will choose to opt into this system was estimated entity by 
entity.  
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4.  BASIS AND METHODS OF CONSOLIDATION 
 
All International Financial Reporting Standards have been applied with effect from 
1st January 2004, other than IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4 which have been applied with effect 
from 1st January 2005. 
 

Note 4.1 CONSOLIDATION METHODS  
 
The consolidation methods used are: 
 
Full method 
Under this method, the investment in the subsidiary is replaced by the latter’s assets and 
liabilities, with minority interests in the company’s reserves and net profit for the year 
being separately identified. It is used for companies that are controlled exclusively, and 
whose activities represent an extension of the consolidating entity’s own activities, 
including banking, insurance, data processing services, etc. 
 
Equity method 
Under this method, the investment in the company is replaced by the Group’s share of its 
capital and reserves, including the net profit for the year ended. This method is applied in 
respect of companies over which significant influence is exercised, or those which are 
controlled exclusively or jointly but which apply a different chart of accounts and whose 
activities do not constitute an extension of the consolidating entity’s own activities. 
 
A special-purpose entity is consolidated only if the conditions defined by SIC12 (activities of 
the entity controlled exclusively by the Group, decision-making or management power to 
obtain the majority of the benefits related to the day-to-day activities of the entity, ability 
to profit from the benefits accruing to the entity; retention of the majority of risks) are 
met. 
 
Investments that are between 20%- and 50%-held by private equity companies are excluded 
from the consolidation scope and are recognised at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
The general principles for inclusion of a subsidiary in the consolidation scope are defined by 
IAS 27, IAS 28 and IAS 31. 

Note 4.2 CONSOLIDATION OF NON-BANKING ACTIVITIES  
 
When a company does not operate in the banking sector, accounting policies specific to its 
industry are included in the consolidated accounts. The on- and off-balance sheet assets, 
liabilities and commitments of non-banking subsidiaries consolidated under the full or 
proportional method are reported on the corresponding lines of the consolidated accounts, 
except as detailed below. 
 
In order to report the activities of fully or proportionally consolidated insurance companies, 
the following lines have been added to the summary consolidated accounts: 
 
LIABILITIES 
 
Technical provisions of insurance companies  
 
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

 
A line entitled “Income and charges on other activities” has been added to the 
consolidated profit and loss account to highlight the weight of non-banking activities, 
including notably the Group’s insurance activities.  
This includes: 
 
• Technical income and charges (life and non-life insurance) 

- Earned premiums; 
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- Claims expenses (including changes in provisions); 
- Net investment income; 
- Other technical income and charges 

 
• Non-technical income (net of related charges) 
 
The banking sector favours classification by nature, whereas classification by function is 
preferred in the insurance industry. Therefore income and charges reported on the line 
“Gross profit of insurance companies” does not include items that, given their nature, can 
be reported on another profit and loss account line. However, when they relate to the 
investments of insurance companies, amortisation and provisions set aside or written back 
are dealt with on the line “Underwriting results and net investment income of insurance 
companies”. 
 

Note 4.3 FINANCIAL YEAR END 
 
All companies included in the consolidation scope have a 31 December year end. 
 

Note 4.4 GOODWILL 
 
In compliance with IFRS 3, on the day the Group assumes control of a new entity, the 
assets, liabilities, and any contingent liabilities are measured at their fair value. The 
difference between the price paid for the securities and the total valuation of the assets, 
liabilities, and any contingent liabilities constitutes the goodwill. If goodwill is positive it is 
recorded as an asset and if it is negative it is recognised immediately in profit or loss, in 
“Changes in the value of goodwill”. It may be recalculated if, in the 12 months following 
the acquisition, the valuation of the entity must be corrected for any changes attributable 
to causes unrelated to the acquisition. Any goodwill below €1 million is written off 
immediately. Goodwill is presented on a separate line of the balance sheet even when it 
pertains to an entity accounted for by the equity method. 
 
The Group regularly tests goodwill for impairment, at least once each year. These tests are 
intended to ensure that such goodwill has not experienced any permanent impairment. If 
the recoverable value of the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the goodwill is allocated 
is less than its carrying value, the difference is recognised as impairment. This impairment, 
recognised in profit or loss, is irreversible. In practice, the Group’s CGUs are its various 
business lines. 
 
Valuation differences 
On the day the Group assumes control of a new entity, the assets, liabilities, and any 
contingent liabilities are measured at their fair value. The Group recognises any valuation 
differences, being the differences between carrying value and fair value. 
 

Note 4.5 RESTATEMENTS AND ELIMINATIONS 
 
All material transactions between fully consolidated companies are eliminated, as well as 
any intra-group gains or losses arising on these transactions. 
 
Provisions in the nature of reserves are written back to reserves and to the profit and loss 
account, after the application of any deferred tax calculations. 
 
When the amounts are material, the company accounts prepared by consolidated 
companies are restated in order to comply with Group accounting policies. These 
restatements may concern banking and/or insurance companies. 
 
The impact of transactions between Group companies on the balance sheet and profit and 
loss account is eliminated, and any related gains or losses are reversed. 
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Note 4.6 TRANSLATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES 
 

The balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries are translated using the official exchange rates 
ruling at the balance sheet date. Translation differences on the capital, reserves and 
retained earnings of these companies are reported under shareholders’ equity on the line 
“Translation adjustments”. The profit and loss accounts of these companies are translated 
using the average exchange rate for the period. 
 
Resulting translation differences are recorded directly to the "Translation reserves” 
account. These differences are reincorporated into profit or loss in the event of the 
disposal or liquidation of all or a portion of the investment held in the foreign entity. 
 
As allowed by IFRS 1, the Group elected to zero out translation reserves in its opening 
balance sheet at 1st January 2004. 
 

Note 4.7 CORPORATION TAX 
 
The tax charge for the year includes all taxes, both current and deferred, chargeable in 
respect of the income for the period under review. 
  
Current taxes are determined in accordance with applicable tax regulations. Banque 
Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel (BFCM) has formed a tax group with three of its subsidiaries 
(including Ventadour Investissement). Another tax group has been formed by CIC with most 
of its regional banks and its subsidiaries. 
 
Pursuant to IAS 12, deferred taxes are calculated on a full provision basis, whereby taxes 
are recognised not only in respect of timing differences between profits and losses as 
computed for taxation purposes and as stated in the financial statements, but also when 
there is a difference between the value on the consolidated balance sheet of an asset or 
liability and its tax value. 
 
Deferred taxes are calculated in accordance with the liability method, applying the 
corporation tax rate in effect at the end of the period and applicable in subsequent years. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised systematically, other than those relating to goodwill 
and valuation differences on intangible assets that cannot be disposed of separately from 
the entity acquired.  
 
Deferred tax assets are recorded only when their recovery is certain or probable. 
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Note 4.8 LEASES 

Finance leases - lessor 
In accordance with IAS 17, finance lease transactions are reported on the consolidated 
balance sheet at their financial accounting value. The unrealised reserve is booked to 
consolidated reserves for an amount net of deferred tax calculated on the entire unrealised 
reserve. 
 
In the case of finance leases entered into with a fully consolidated company, assets are 
reclassified under non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheet. Equipment leases 
entered into with group companies are not restated, as transactions with other group 
companies do not involve material amounts. 

Finance leases - lessee 
In accordance with IAS 17, the non-current assets concerned are recorded on the balance 
sheet, and the borrowing from credit institutions is recorded as a liability. Lease payments 
are broken down between interest expense and repayment of principal. 

Lease-backs 
In accordance with IAS 17, gains on the sale to a leasing company of a building that was 
previously held in full and which will subsequently be rented from the buyer are spread 
over the term of the finance lease. 
 
 

Note 4.9 MEASUREMENT AND PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 2004 
 
The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with CRC Standard 99-
07 of the French accounting regulation committee (Comité de la Réglementation 
Comptable – CRC) and presented in accordance with CRC Standard 2000-04. IAS 32, IAS 39 
and IFRS 4 were applied with effect from 1st January 2005, while the accounting principles 
previously applied under French GAAP continued to be applied for the following main 
categories: 
 
LOANS 
Loans are recorded in the balance sheet at nominal value. 
 
Loans are classified as impaired when amounts falling due are outstanding for more than 
three months, or six months in the case of property loans and nine months for local 
authorities, or when it is likely that the debtor will be unable to repay the full amount due. 
 
Loans are classified as impaired and delinquent when they have been delinquent for more 
than 12 months, when a default occurs or in the event of a winding-up by decision of the 
court. 
 
Delinquent loans restructured under non-market terms and conditions and reclassified in 
performing receivables are subject to a write-down that is expensed and added back into 
the interest margin over the term of the loan. 
 
SECURITIES PORTFOLIO 
Rules for the recognition of securities are set out in regulation CRB 90-01 as amended by 
regulation CRB 95-04 and by CRC standard 2000-02, and instruction CB 94-07 as amended by 
instruction CB 2000-12. 
 
In accordance with these texts, government securities, bonds and other fixed-income 
securities (interbank market securities, negotiable debt securities and marketable 
securities) are analysed between trading securities, securities available for sale and 
securities held to maturity, while shares and other variable-yield securities are analysed 
between trading securities, securities available for sale, equities available for sale in the 
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medium term, investments in associates, investments in related undertakings, and other 
long-term investments.  
 
Trading securities 
These are securities acquired with the intention of selling them within a maximum of six 
months. Trading securities are recorded at acquisition cost, including any accrued interest 
purchased. At each period end, the securities held are valued at the most recently 
available market price. The total difference arising from price changes is recognised as 
income or expense in the profit and loss account. 
 
Securities available for sale 
These are securities that are held for more than six months but without the intention of 
holding them to maturity. Securities available for sale are recorded at acquisition cost, 
excluding acquisition expenses. Any premiums or discounts are spread over the residual 
term of the securities. 
 
At each period end, each line of securities is measured individually, with bonds being 
organised into homogenous groups. When the carrying value is more than the likely trading 
value, an impairment provision is raised for the amount of the unrealised loss, this 
calculation being made for individual securities or homogenous groups of securities. 
Unrealised gains are not recognised and there is no offsetting between unrealised gains and 
losses. For shares listed in Paris, the likely trading value is the average price over the last 
month, while for shares listed elsewhere and bonds, it is the latest price in the last month. 
 
Securities held to maturity 
These are securities acquired with the intention of holding them until maturity. Securities 
held to maturity are recorded at acquisition cost, excluding acquisition expenses. The 
difference between the acquisition cost of the securities and their redemption value is 
spread over the residual term of the securities. These securities are backed by appropriate 
resources or interest rate instruments. 
 
A provision is raised when the financial situation of the issuer is likely to compromise 
redemption of the securities on maturity. 
 
Equities available for sale in the medium term 
These securities stem from investments made on a regular basis with the sole objective of 
generating a capital gain over the medium term without any intention to make a long-term 
investment in the business or to participate actively in its operational management. Such 
investments are made in the context of dedicated structures, and represent significant and 
ongoing investments whose profitability stems essentially from the realisation of capital 
gains on disposal. 
 
These securities are recorded at acquisition cost. At each period end, each line of 
securities is measured individually. When the carrying value is more than the value in use, 
an impairment provision is raised for the amount of the unrealised loss. Unrealised gains 
are not recognised. The value in use is determined by taking into account changes in the 
issuer’s general prospects and the likely period of ownership. For listed securities, the 
average share price over a sufficiently long period may be used. 
 
 
Other long-term investments, investments in associates and investments in related 
undertakings 
Other long-term investments are investments made in the form of securities with the 
intention of promoting the development of a long-term professional relationship with the 
issuer, while not exercising any influence over its management. Investments in associates 
are those that are deemed to be useful for the Group’s business when held long-term, 
especially as they enable the Group to exercise influence over or assume control of the 
issuer. 
These securities are recorded at acquisition cost, which may be revalued in the context of 
the 1976 legal revaluation or as part of a merger or similar operation. At each period end, 
each line of securities is estimated individually. When the carrying value is more than the 
value in use, an impairment provision is raised for the amount of the unrealised loss. 
Unrealised gains are not recognised. The value in use represents the amount that the 
company would be prepared to disburse to obtain such securities if it had to acquire them 
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taking into account its intention in holding the securities. The value in use may be 
estimated based on various criteria such as net assets after any adjustments, current and 
projected profitability, and the average share price in recent months. 
 
Securities given under resale agreements 
Securities given under resale agreements are recorded in assets on the balance sheet and 
the liability due to the assignor is recorded in liabilities. The valuation and revenue 
recognition principles remain those applicable to the category to which the securities sold 
belonged. 
 
TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING INTEREST RATE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE FUTURES  
The Group intervenes for its own account in various organised and over-the-counter 
markets in firm and conditional interest rate and foreign exchange futures in application of 
the risk management strategy relating to interest rate and foreign currency positions in its 
assets and liabilities. 
 
Transactions on organised and similar markets 
Contracts for firm and conditional futures traded on organised and similar markets are 
measured in accordance with the rules laid down by the French banking regulation 
committee (Comité de la Réglementation Bancaire – CRB). The contracts are revalued at 
the period end based on their listed prices in the various markets. The gain or loss arising 
from this revaluation is recognised in the profit and loss account. 
 
Transactions on over-the-counter markets 
Regulation no. 90-15 of the CRB is applied to all interest rate instruments traded over the 
counter. This treatment notably concerns interest rate and/or foreign currency swaps, 
forward rate agreements, options (caps, floors, etc.). In accordance with this regulation, 
the transactions are allocated at their inception to the various portfolios (open positions, 
micro hedges, overall asset/liability and off-balance sheet management, specialised 
management). 
 
Contracts classified in the open positions portfolio are measured at the lower of acquisition 
cost and market value. 
 
Income and charges relating to contracts classified in the micro hedges portfolio are 
recognised in the profit and loss account as equal and opposite entries to those recognised 
in respect of the hedged items. 
 
Income and charges relating to contracts classified in the overall interest-rate risk 
management portfolios are recognised in the profit and loss account on an accruals basis. 
 
Contracts included in the specialised management portfolios are marked to market. 
Changes in value are recognised in net banking income after making adjustments to reflect 
the counterparty risk and future management expenses. 
 
Structured products 
Structured products are financial structures offered to customers to more closely meet 
their specific needs. They are constructed using standard products, often involving options. 
CIC markets various categories of structured products based on the following standard 
products: traditional options, binary options, barrier options, Asian options, look-back 
options, options on several assets, and index swaps. 
 
There are three main types of method for valuing such products: methods based on solving 
a partial differential equation, methods employing arborescence over discrete intervals and 
Monte-Carlo methods. CIC uses the first and third of these methods. The analytical methods 
applied are those used by the market to model the underlying used. 
 
The products are marked to market. The valuation parameters used are those observed or 
deduced via a standard model of the values observed at the balance sheet date. In the 
event that an organised market does not exist, the values used are obtained from the most 
active intermediaries in the corresponding products and/or extrapolated from listed values. 
A historical record is maintained of all parameters used. 
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In the event that the valuation of certain instruments is based on complex models, the 
market parameters used as the basis for the valuation of these instruments are adjusted on 
a conservative basis to reflect, in particular, the level of liquidity of the markets concerned 
and their relevance for long-dated maturities. 
 
Valuation of unlisted financial futures 
These instruments are revalued based on prices that can be observed in the market. This 
“snapshot” procedure involves obtaining, at the same time each day, the bid and offer 
prices quoted by several market players using computerised market data applications. A 
single price is retained for each market parameter. 
 
ACCRUALS AND OTHER ASSETS/LIABILITIES  
Up to 31 December 1999, debt issuance costs were amortised during the year of issue. 
Issuance costs relating to issues made after this date are spread over the life of the debt 
concerned. 
 
Bond redemption premiums are amortised on a straight-line basis based over the term of 
the bonds. 
 
PROVISIONS  
Provisions are raised for likely losses on impaired receivables based on estimates of the 
amounts recoverable. 
 
Interest that is overdue by more than three months (six months for property loans and nine 
months for local authorities) is recognised in banking income and is provided for in full. 
 
Movements in provisions relating to principal balances on impaired receivables are 
recognised in cost of risk. Movements in provisions relating to interest on impaired 
receivables are deducted from interest income. 
 
Movements in provisions for risks and charges are classified by type in the corresponding 
expense accounts. 
 
Provisions relating to asset items are deducted from the corresponding receivables, which 
are thus shown at their net amount. Provisions relating to off-balance sheet commitments 
are included in provisions for risks. 
 
Provisions raised to cover sovereign and emerging market risks are determined based on the 
economic situation of the borrowing country. Specific provisions are deducted from the 
corresponding assets. 
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS FOR CREDIT RISKS 
Since the year ended 31 December 2000, CIC has raised general provisions for credit risks to 
cover incurred but undetected risks on performing loans and commitments given on behalf 
of customers. These provisions are determined as follows: 
• for lending activities other than specialised financing, based on an average cost of 

risk i.e. 0.5% of performing customer outstanding; 
• for the specialised financing business and foreign branches, based on a cost of risk 

represented by an average cost of default that is associated with the ratings assigned 
to the receivables. This method takes into account the reduced dispersion of risks 
and the greater size of certain individual loans and hence the increased volatility. 

These general provisions for credit risks will be reversed following the occurrence of any of 
the events they are designed to cover. They may also include a general provision to cover 
major group risks. 
 
GENERAL BANKING RISKS RESERVE 
Pursuant to Article 3 of CRB 90-02 and for reasons of prudence, a general banking risks 
reserve has been set up to cover general, unidentified risks that are inherent to the banking 
business. New provisions and reversals are decided by management and are reflected in the 
profit and loss account. 
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INTEREST AND FEES AND COMMISSIONS 
Interest is recorded in the profit and loss account on an accruals basis. Fees and 
commissions are recognised on a cash basis except in the case of fees and commissions on 
financial transactions, which are recognised when the issue is closed or when billed. 
 
Since the year ended 31 December 2003, interest on impaired and delinquent receivables is 
no longer recognised in income. 
 
Fees and commissions comprise banking revenues for services provided to third parties, 
with the exception of revenues that are equivalent to interest, i.e. which are calculated 
based on the term and amount of the receivable or commitment given. 

 
 

 



Notes IFRS

The notes to the financial statements are presented in millions of euros.

NOTE 1 - Cash in hand, balances with central banks and post office accounts 
Loans and advances to credit institutions

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Cash in hand, balances with central banks and post office accounts

Central banks 4 905 3 493
  of which mandatory reserves 573 450
Cash in hand, post office accounts 504 482
Total 5 409 3 975

Loans and advances to credit institutions

Crédit Mutuel network accounts 8 248 8 032
Other ordinary accounts 2 071 2 458
Loans 7 268 2 678
Other receivables 4 543 3 338
Securities not listed on an active market 6 873 6 248
Repurchase agreements 17 212 14 610
Receivables written down individually 29 21
Loans to affiliates 171 139
Provisions -15 -18
Total 46 401 37 505

 

NOTE 2 - Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
.Securities 57 983 51 484
   - Government securities 23 466 22 839
   - Bonds and other fixed-income securities 20 482 15 207
        . Listed 19 798 14 383
        . Not listed 684 824
   - Shares and other variable-yield securities 14 035 13 439
        . Listed 13 041 12 954
        . Not listed 993 485
. Trading derivatives 5 628 3 636
. Other financial assets (1) 6 914 7 450
of which repurchase agreements 5 998 6 170
TOTAL 70 527 62 570

   

NOTE 3 - Derivative hedging instruments

Asset Liability Asset Liability

. Cash flow hedges 3 13 3 11
  - change in value through profit or loss 3 13 3 11
. Fair value hedges (change through profit or loss) 719 1 191 319 678
TOTAL 722 1 204 322 689

  
NOTE 4a - Financial assets available for sale

31.12.2005 01.01.2005

. Government securities 763 261

. Bonds and other fixed-income securities 44 322 44 346
    - Listed 43 996 43 338
    - Not listed 326 1 008
. Shares and other variable-yield securities 3 969 3 206
    - Listed 3 741 2 624
    - Not listed 228 582
. Long-term investments 1 332 1 422
   - Investments in associates 949 1 052
   - Other long-term investments 291 235
   - Investments in related undertakings 93 136
. Related receivables 269 301
TOTAL 50 655 49 536

of which investments in listed associates 419 611

31.12.2005 01.01.2005

NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET AND PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
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NOTE 4 b - Principal non-consolidated investments  

 
% held Shareholders' equity Total  assets NBI or Revenue Net profit  

Veolia < 5% 3 563 36 265 24 673 125
Crédit logement < 5% 1 372 6 207 178 55
Banca Popolare di Milano < 5% 2 630 34 669 n/a 128
Investessor 49% 83 112 n/a n/a
Holding Eurocard 45% 19 19 n/a n/a
Groupe SFEJIC l'Alsace 78% 5 58 1 -2
CRH (Caisse de refinancement de l'habitat) 17% 104 17 452 1 0

The various figures (excluding percentage held) concern 2004.

NOTE 4 c  - Derivatives

Notional Asset Liability Notional Asset Liability

Trading derivatives
 Interest rate instruments
     Swaps 606 782 1 631 1 433 610 269 924 566
     Other firm contracts 58 591 17 0 79 148 6 2
     Options and conditional instruments 3 982 196 160 3 464 210 180
 Foreign exchange instruments       

     Swaps  25 41  103 82
     Other firm contracts 143 737 616 151 643 553
     Options and conditional instruments 47 878 22 23 55 890 19 22
 Other instruments       
     Swaps 34 416 79 23 25 860 2 211
     Other firm contracts 27 642 0 0 37 828 0 1
     Options and conditional instruments 66 278 2 921 3 273 54 073 1 727 2 326
Sub-total 845 712 5 628 5 569 866 683 3 634 3 943

Hedging derivatives

  Fair Value Hedge
      Swaps 7 119 719 1 191 4 319 319 678
     Options and conditional instruments 47 0  0 0  
  Cash Flow Hedge       
      Swaps 82 1 13 82 1 11
     Options and conditional instruments 0 1  0 1  
Sub-total 7 248 721 1 203 4 401 320 689
Total 852 960 6 348 6 772 871 084 3 954 4 632

NOTE 5 - Customer loans and receivables

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Performing receivables 116 681 100 486
. Trade receivables 4 799 4 474
. Other customer receivables 111 390 95 516
   - home-related loans 60 574 49 642
   - other loans and receivables including repurchase agreements 50 817 45 874
. Related receivables 257 226
. Securities not listed on an active market 235 270
Receivables written down individually 4 533 4 641
Provisions -3 051 -3 183
 SUB-TOTAL I (1) 118 163 101 945
Finance leases (net investment) 5 469 5 379
. Equipment 3 403 3 320  
. Property 1 946 1 931
. Receivables written down individually 119 129
Provisions -82 -82
 SUB-TOTAL II 5 387 5 297  

TOTAL 123 550 107 242  
xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 2 1
of which subordinated loans 16 100

 

Finance leases with customers   

Opening balance Acquisitions Disposals Other Closing balance  

Gross book value 5 379 431 -159 -183 5 469   
Impairment of uncollectable lease payments -82 -24 23 2 -82  
Net book value 5 297 407 -136 -181 5 387

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
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NOTE 6 - Revaluation differences on portfolios hedged against interest rate risk
Description of assets and liabilities hedged and hedging instruments

 Fair value
31.12.2005 01.01.2005

Fair value of interest rate risk by portfolio
. Financial assets 17 21 -4
. Financial liabilities 189 284 -95

  

NOTE 7a - Financial assets held to maturity

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
.Securities 1 099 1 034
   - Government securities 701 758
   - Bonds and other fixed-income securities 398 275
        . Listed 136 189
        . Not listed 262 87
. Related receivables 12 22
TOTAL - GROSS 1 110 1 056
Provisions for impairment -3 -3
TOTAL - NET 1 107 1 053

 

NOTE 7 b - Analysis of provisions

01.01.2005 Charges Write-backs Other 31.12.2005
Loans and receivables due from credit institutions -18 0 1 2 -15
Customer loans and receivables -3 183 -767 282 617 -3 051
Securities available for sale -372 -7 9 107 -264
Securities held to maturity -3 0 0 0 -3
TOTAL -3 575 -775 292 726 -3 332  

NOTE 8 a - Current taxes

31.12.2005 01.01.2005

Current tax assets (through profit or loss) 409 420
Current tax liabilities (through profit or loss) 444 348

NOTE 8 b - Deferred taxes

31.12.2005 01.01.2005

Deferred tax assets (through profit or loss) 447 482
Deferred tax assets (through shareholders' equity) 12 13
Deferred tax liabilities (through profit or loss) 554 499
Deferred tax liabilities (through shareholders' equity) 74 41

NOTE 9 a - Prepayments, accrued income and other assets

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Prepayments and accrued income
Securities collection accounts 6 238 4 047
Currency adjustment accounts 74 84
Accrued income 655 641
Sundry accruals 1 924 2 912
Sub-total 8 891 7 684
Other assets
Settlement accounts on securities transactions 1 242 762
Other debtors 5 157 4 694
Inventories and equivalents 4 5
Sundry -8 -4
Sub-total 6 395 5 457
Other assets of insurance companies
Insurance and reinsurance receivables 226 326
Deposits with credit institutions 0 1
Reinsurers' shares in technical provisions 251 214
Sub-total 477 540
Total 15 772 13 681

Change in fair value
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NOTE 9 b - Accrued charges, deferred income and other liabilities

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Accrued charges and deferred income
Blocked accounts on collection transactions 5 923 5 000
Currency adjustment accounts 273 748
Accrued charges 697 789
Sundry accruals 2 042 2 845
Sub-total 8 935 9 381
Other liabilities
Settlement accounts on securities transactions 1 865 869
Payments to be made on securities 40 43
Other creditors 4 132 3 142
Sub-total 5 573 4 054
Other liabilities of insurance companies
Insurance and reinsurance liabilities 100 106  
Due to credit institutions 79 26  
Security deposits and guarantees received 5 3
Sub-total 184 135
Total 15 156 13 570

NOTE 10 - Investments in companies accounted for by the equity method  
Share in net profit of companies accounted for by the equity method

Investment Share in net profit Investment Share in net profit

Banque de Tunisie 34 2
La Pérennité 15 1 14 4
CCCM 58 6 51 3
Subsidiaries of the GACM sub-group 43 8 27 4
Other 2
TOTAL 150 17 91 13

NOTE 11 - Investment property

 
Opening balance Increase Decrease Other changes Closing balance

Historical cost 519 4 -7 250 677
Depreciation and impairment -88 -2 2 -13 -81
Net value 431 2 -5 237 596

NOTE 12 - Property, plant and equipment

Accounting method Opening balance Increase Decrease Other changes Closing balance

Historical cost
Land used in operations 317 8 0 15 339
Buildings used in operations 2 030 214 -86 46 2 204
Other property, plant and equipment 1 516 253 -191 -52 1 526
Total 3 863 475 -277 9 4 070
Depreciation and impairment
Buildings used in operations -971 -118 51 1 -1 038
Other property, plant and equipment -1 055 -168 137 16 -1 070
Total -2 027 -286 188 17 -2 108
Net value 1 836 189 -89 26 1 962  
 

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
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of which buildings rented under finance leases

Opening balance Acquisitions Disposals Other Closing balance  
Land used in operations 45 0 0 0 45
Buildings used in operations 51 -2 0 0 49
Total 95 -2 0 0 94

NOTE 13 - Intangible assets 

Accounting method
01.01.2005 Acquisitions Disposals Other changes 31.12.2005

Historical cost
. Non-current assets acquired 339 32 -21 -27 322
   - software 0 0 0 1 1
   - other 339 15 -21 -28 321
Total 339 32 -21 -27 322
Amortisation and impairment
. Non-current assets acquired -182 -13 18 3 -174
   - software 0 0 0 0 -1
   - other -182 -13 18 3 -173
Total -182 -13 18 3 -174
Net value 156 19 -3 -25 148  
 

NOTE 14 - Goodwill

Opening balance Acquisitions Disposals Other changes 31.12.2005

Goodwill - gross 866 0 -6 3 863
Impairment -278 0 0 4 -273
Goodwill - net 588 0 -6 7 589  

Goodwill  

Subsidiaries
Value of goodwill at 
31 December 2004

Increase Decrease
Change in 
impairment

Value of goodwill at 
31 December 2005

Groupe CIC 509 509
IPO 21 21
Pérénnité 19 19
Banque du Luxembourg 13 13
Groupe ACM 8 8
Banque Transatlantique 6 6
Banque Pasche 3 3
Other 10 1 10
TOTAL 588 0 0 1 589

 
NOTE 15 - Central banks, post office accounts   
Amounts due to credit institutions

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Central banks, post office accounts
Central banks 0 59
Post office accounts 0 0
Total 0 60
Amounts due to credit institutions
Borrowings 1 468 1 242
Other liabilities 19 703 13 195
Repurchase agreements 37 021 33 990
Related liabilities 357 262
Total 89 185 48 689  

NOTE 16 a - Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

31.12.2005 01.01.2005

Financial liabilities held for trading purposes 21 691 17 379
Financial liabilities at fair value by option through profit or loss 11 503 #REF!  

TOTAL 33 194 #REF!
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NOTE 16 b - Financial liabilities held for trading purposes

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
.Short sales of securities   
   - Government securities 0 12 800
   - Bonds and other fixed-income securities 13 707 131
   - Shares and other variable-yield securities 2 014 22
. Trading derivatives 5 569 3 943
. Other financial liabilities held for trading purposes 403 483
TOTAL 21 692 17 379

 

NOTE 17 - Customer deposits

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
. Special regulated savings deposits 41 621 40 477
   - On demand 2 273 21 726
   - Term 18 947 18 751
. Liabilities associated with savings deposits 55 65
Sub-total 41 676 40 542
. Ordinary accounts 23 888 26 581
. Term accounts and borrowings 10 911 16 014
. Repurchase agreements 1 527 1 691
. Related liabilities 49 85
Sub-total 47 801 44 372

TOTAL 89 477 84 914

 

NOTE 18 - Debt securities

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Certificates of deposit 255 281
Interbank certificates & negotiable debt securities 37 097 29 096
Bonds 13 617 9 309
Related liabilities 466 513
TOTAL 51 435 39 199

  

NOTE 19 - Technical provisions on insurance contracts

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Life 42 000 37 498
Non-life 1 681 1 510
Unit-linked 4 393 3 701
Other 203 325
TOTAL 37 819 43 034
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NOTE 20 - Provisions for risks and charges

Opening balance Increases
Reversals for the 

period (used)
Reversals for the 
period (not used)

Other changes Closing balance

Provisions for pension obligations 213 29 -34 -2 2 207
Provisions for risks 284 142 -102 0 -39 285
Other 438 53 -177 2 0 315
Total 935 224 -314 0 -38 807  

Pension obligations and similar benefits

Opening balance Increases Reversals Other changes Closing balance

Obligations relating to defined benefit pension plans and similar, excluding pension funds

   Retirement indemnities 46 17 -8 -1 54
   Top-up retirement benefits 55 1 -1 -4 52

Premiums linked to service awards (other long-term benefits) 33 2 0 -1 34
   Total booked 134 20 -9 -6 140

Top-up defined benefit pension plans covered by the group's pension funds

   Obligations to employees and retired employees 42 1 -3 0 40
   Fair value of assets

   Total booked 42 1 -3 0 40

(The pension fund assets include 35,000 CIC shares)
Obligations in respect of early retirement agreements

   Obligations 36 7 -1 -15 28
   Total booked 36 7 -1 -15 28

Pension plan funding deficit Opening balance
Effect of 
discounting Financial income

Change in actuarial 
gains or losses Paid to beneficiaries Subsidies received Closing balance

Obligations 139 5 -8 -7 129
Plan assets 100 4 9 -7 3 108
Deferred actuarial gains or losses -5 17 13
Provision 35 5 -4 0 0 -3 33
Foreign subsidiaries 7 6
TOTAL 42 5 -4 0 0 -3 39

These figures concern only CIC - the CEE subsidiaries are covered by Carmut, a non-consolidated entity.

NOTE 21 a - Subordinated debt

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Subordinated debt 3 052 3 151
Equity loans 156 158
Perpetual subordinated debt 1 923 1 073
Other debt 0 0
Related liabilities 111 102
TOTAL 5 242 4 485

Principal subordinated debt issues
 

Type Date Amount Balance at Rate Maturity
of issue issued end of period (%)

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Redeemable €85m €85m 5,75 17.11.2007
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Redeemable €50m €50m 5,40 29.06.2011
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Redeemable €700m €700m 6,50 19.07.2013
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Redeemable €800m €800m 5,00 30.09.2015
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Super subordinated €1,600m €1,600m  undetermined
Banque de l'Economie, du Commerce et de la Monétique Equity loan €122m €122m 29.11.2013
Banque de l'Economie, du Commerce et de la Monétique Equity loan €122m €122m undetermined

CIC Redeemable €300m €300m * 19.07.2013
CIC Redeemable $350m $350m 30.09.2015
CIC Equity loan 28.05.85 €137m €137m ** ***
CIC Perpetual 11.06.97 €191m €191m ****

*     3-month Euribor + 89.5 basis points
**    Minimum 85% (average annual money market rate [TAM]+ average annual bond rate [TMO])/2; Maximum 130% (TAM+TMO)/2
***   Non amortisable but redeemable at the borrower's request as from 28 May 1997 at 130% of the nominal amount revalued at 1.5% per year for subsequent years
**** Fixed rate of 6.60% to 2007, then 3-month Euribor + 2.25%

The assumptions used for calculating pension obligations and similar benefits included a discount rate equal to the long-term yield on government bonds as measured by the TEC 10 index. The differential between the discount rate and estimated rate of future salary
increases is 1.1%. This rate was 1.4% the previous year.
Employee retirement assumptions are revised each year for each country based on regulatory conditions. The AFB collective agreement for bank employees of 29 March 2005 was taken into account for this revision. The above obligations concern only the CIC group
as Crédit Mutuel's obligations are outsourced.
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NOTE 21 b - Financial liabilities at fair value by option through profit or loss

01.01.2005

Book Amount due Difference
Value  at maturity Book value

.Securities issued

   - Bonds 0 0 0 0

   - Certificates of deposit 0 0 0 0

   - Other, including interbank market securities 2 223 2 224 (1) 2 161
. Debt securities given under resale agreements 9 278 9 289 (11) 11 666

. Subordinated debt 0 0 0 0

. Debt   

   - interbank 

   - customers 1 1 0 134
. Other liabilities under fair value option
Total 11 503 11 515 -12 0 13 961

NOTE 22 - Capital and reserves

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
. Capital 3 323 2 961  
. Consolidated reserves 7 282 6 180
   - Regulated reserves 6 7
   - Translation reserves 17 -9
   - Other reserves (including impact of first-time adoption) 7 296 6 214
   - Retained earnings -37 -33
Total 11 605 9 141

NOTE 23 a - Unrealised or deferred gains or losses 

31.12.2005 01.01.2005

Unrealised or deferred gains or losses* on:
- assets available for sale 403 258
- hedging derivatives (CFH) 0 0
Total 403 258

* net of corporation tax

NOTE 23 b - Analysis of certain assets/ liabilities according to residual maturity  

Less than Between 3 months Between 1 year More than Undetermined Related Total
3 months and  and 1 year and 5 years 5 years receivables
on demand or liabilities

Assets

Amounts due from credit institutions  (1) 36 413 2 470 2 709 7 114 0 2 952 51 659
Amounts due from customers  (1) 21 904 10 061 35 992 48 188 19 257 116 421
Bonds and other fixed-income securities  (3) 685 1 764 10 207 7 555 54 332 20 596
Liabilities

Amounts due to credit institutions  (2) 46 854 15 212 4 598 785 8 393 67 851
Amounts due to customers  (2) 76 473 5 183 5 879 1 689 99 83 89 405
Debt securities  (2)  
 - Certificates of deposit 153 58 43 1 0 6 261
 - Interbank securities and negotiable debt securities 26 045 8 114 2 024 2 488 0 378 39 050
 - Bonds 1 264 1 988 7 646 1 808 3 82 13 792
 - Subordinated debt 274 199 497 2 0 111 1 083
 - Other 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

31.12.2005

The balance sheet items are presented by contractual maturity date.
The outstanding amounts do not not include related receivables or liabilities, non-performing receivables or provisions for impairment.
(1) receivables at amortised cost and at fair value;
(2) liabilities at amortised cost and at fair value;
(3) only for available-for-sale securities, at fair value by option, held to maturity and not listed on an active market.
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NOTE 23 c - Commitments given and received

Commitments given 31.12.05 01.01.05

Financing commitments

Commitments given to credit institutions  1 954 1 523

Commitments given to customers  30 789 28 875
 

Guarantee commitments  

Commitments given to credit institutions  1 109 742

Commitments given to customers  11 708 10 692

Commitments on securities

Securities acquired under resale agreements  0 0
Other commitments given  1 691 1 289

Commitments received 31.12.05 01.01.05

Financing commitments

Commitments received from credit institutions  17 18

Guarantee commitments

Commitments received from credit institutions  12 156 6 950

Commitments on securities

Securities sold under repurchase agreements  0 0
Other commitments received  1 466 877

NOTE 24 - Interest and similar income/charges

Income Charges Income Charges
. Credit institutions & central banks 1 796 -2 614 2 531 -3 125
. Customers 4 945 -1 658 4 545 -1 699
   - of which finance leases (1) 1 876 -1 644 1 789 -1 551
. Financial assets/liabilities at fair value by option through profit or loss 0 0 0 0
. Hedging derivatives 3 059 -3 271 2 830 -3 428
. Financial assets available for sale 685 0 1 078 0
. Financial assets held to maturity  66 0 134 0
. Debt securities 0 -1 461 0 -1 113
. Subordinated debt 0 -94 0 -22
TOTAL 12 427 -10 743 12 907 -10 938

 
NOTE 25 - Fees and commissions

Income Charges Income Charges
Credit institutions 14 -6 13 -8
Customers 669 -13 686 -14
Securities 644 -52 539 -40
Derivative instruments 14 -27 15 -32
Foreign exchange 25 -12 21 -11
Loan commitments and guarantee obligations 19 -3 31 -3
Services rendered 900 -661 883 -588
TOTAL 2 285 -774 2 188 -695

  

NOTE 26 - Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Trading instruments 962 869
Instruments at fair value by option 441 0
Ineffective portion of hedges -89 0  
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 80 28
Total changes in fair value 1 394 896

of which trading derivatives -1 151 -1 229  

31.12.2005 31.12.2004

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
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NOTE 27 - Net gains (losses) on financial assets available for sale

Dividends Gains/losses realised Impairment Total
. Government securities, bonds and other fixed-income securities 77 1 78
. Shares and other variable-yield securities 11 37 1 49
. Long-term investments 22 123 -3 142
. Other 0 0 0 0
Total 32 237 -1 268

 

Dividends Gains/losses realised Impairment Total

. Government securities, bonds and other fixed-income securities 131 0 131

. Shares and other variable-yield securities 24 161 -2 184

. Long-term investments 21 13 17 50

. Other 0 3 0 3
Total 44 308 15 368

NOTE 28 - Income/charges from other activities  

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Income from other activities
. Insurance contracts: 9 653 7 808
    - premiums earned 7 308 5 988
    - net investment income 2 321 1 791
    - technical and non-technical income 24 29
. Investment property: 1 1
    - gains on disposals 1 0
. Other income 368 309
Sub-total 10 022 8 118
Charges on other activities
. Insurance contracts: -8 585 -6 986
    - cost of benefits -3 727 -3 302
    - changes in provisions -4 881 -3 720
    - technical and non-technical charges 22 35
. Investment property: -2 -3
    - increases in provisions/amortisation (depending on method used) -2 -3
. Other charges -150 -60
Sub-total -8 737 -7 069
Total other net income (charges) 1 286 1 049

(1) including conditional rent

NOTE 29 a - General operating expenses

31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Staff costs -2 309 -2 159
Other charges -1 508 -1 527
TOTAL -3 818 -3 686

 

NOTE 29 b - Staff costs

31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Wages and salaries -1 374 -1 324
Social security costs -658 -600
Employee profit-sharing and incentives -137 -138
Payroll and similar taxes -143 -133
Other 3 35
TOTAL -2 309 -2 159

 

31.12.2005

31.12.2004
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Average staff  

31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Banking staff 23 063 22 811
Management staff 13 234 12 550
Total 36 297 35 361

NOTE 29 c - Other operating charges

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Taxes and duties (other than corporation tax) -195 -174
External services -998 -997
Sundry charges (transport, travel, etc.) -30 -51
Total -1 223 -1 222

 

 

 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Depreciation and amortisation: -295 -297
- Property, plant and equipment -281 -284
- Intangible assets -14 -13
Impairment: 9 -8
- Property, plant and equipment 10 -6
- Intangible assets -1 -3
Total -286 -305

 

Intangible assets include notably leasehold rights. These rights are deemed to be open-ended, and as such 
they are not amortised. They are tested for impairment in the same manner as all other non-current assets.

NOTE 31 - Cost of risk 

Increases Recoveries
Uncollectable 

receivables covered

Uncollectable 
receivables not 

covered

Collections of 
receivables previously 

written off
TOTAL

Credit institutions 0 4 -1 0 0 2
Customers -761 888 -270 -35 28 -150
. Finance leases -6 11 -4 -5 1 -3
. Other -755 878 -266 -30 27 -147

 Sub-total -761 892 -271 -35 28 -148

HTM 0 0 0 0 0 0
AFS -1 0 0 0 2 2
Other -74 81 0 0 2 9
Total -836 973 -271 -35 32 -138

   

NOTE 32 - Gains or losses on other assets

31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 15 11
. Losses on disposals -14 -16
. Gains on disposals 29 -26
Gains (losses) on disposals of consolidated securities 0 0
TOTAL 15 11

 

NOTE 30 - Increases/recoveries of depreciation, amortisation and impairment of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets
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NOTE 33 - Changes in value of goodwill

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Impairment 0 0
Negative goodwill charged to the profit and loss account 0 0
TOTAL 0 0

NOTE 34 - Tax charge for the period

Breakdown of tax charge for the period

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Current taxes -607 -527
Deferred taxes -6 -50
Adjustments for prior years -7 2
TOTAL -620 -575

 

Reconciliation of actual tax charge and theoretical tax charge

31.12.2005
Theoretical tax rate 34,9%
Impact of special tax conditions for SCR and SICOMI -3,3%
Impact of reduced tax rate on long-term capital gains -1,0%
Impact of specific tax rates at foreign entities -0,3%
Permanent timing differences -0,3%
Tax credits -1,1%
Other -1,5%
Effective tax rate 27,4%

Taxable income 2 217
Tax charge -607

Analysis of deferred taxes by category

Asset Liability
. Temporary timing differences on
   - deferred gains/losses on securities available for sale 12 74
   - provisions 219
   - hidden reserve for finance leases 45
   - earnings of partnerships 5 27
   - insurance activities 49 364
   - other temporary timing differences 261 205
. Netting -87 -87
Total deferred tax assets and liabilities 460 629

31.12.2005

CIC, the regional banks and all the main subsidiaries that are more than 95%-owned form a tax group. 
Each regional CIC bank that is a member of the tax group constitutes a contractual sub-group along with its own subsidiaries. The members
of the tax group are identified in the list of consolidated companies by an (i) in front of their names.
Tax integration of the tax group formed by CIC generated a profit of €227 million in current tax in 2005.

Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability method.
For French companies, the rate of deferred tax was 34.43%.
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NOTE 35 - Breakdown of balance sheet and profit and loss by activity and by geographic area

Breakdown of assets and liabilities by activity

ASSETS

2005 Retail Insurance Corporate and Private Private Administration and Total
banking Investment banking Banking Equity holding companies

Cash in hand, balances with central banks and post office accounts - Asset 2 173 0 2 966 269 0 0 5 408
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 343 11 125 57 331 393 1 278 55 70 525
Derivative hedging instruments - Asset 661 0 26 34 0 0 722
Financial assets available for sale 764 32 213 6 714 10 473 53 438 50 655
Loans and advances to credit institutions 14 122 6 556 24 315 1 105 5 298 46 401
Loans and advances to customers 104 556 315 14 983 3 334 1 361 123 549
Financial assets held to maturity 801 0 299 7 0 0 1 108
Holdings in companies accounted for by the equity method 92 58 0 0 0 0 149

LIABILITIES

2005 Retail Insurance Corporate and Private Private Administration and Total
banking Investment banking Banking Equity holding companies

Central Banks, Post office accounts - Liability 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 211 0 32 918 65 0 0 33 194
Derivative hedging instruments - Liability 596 0 47 561 0 0 1 203
Amounts due to credit institutions 35 583 (545) 19 793 3 465 0 252 58 548
Amounts due to customers 73 518 0 5 360 10 523 0 75 89 477
Debt securities 4 464 0 46 955 15 0 0 51 434

Breakdown of profit and loss by activity

2005 Retail Insurance Corporate and Private Private Administration and inter
IFRS banking Investment banking Banking Equity holding companies activities

Net banking income 4 560 851 352 331 246 (14) (185)
Overheads (3 106) (287) (341) (208) (26) (34) 185

Gross operating profit 1 454 564 11 123 220 (48)
Cost of risk (155) 20 (4) 1

Gains on other assets* 18 9 0 4
Profit before tax 1 317 573 31 119 221 (44)

Corporation tax (430) (193) (7) (24) 3 44
Net profit before minority interests 887 380 24 95 224 0 0

Minority interests
Net profit, Group share

2004 Retail Insurance Corporate and Private Private Administration and inter
IFRS excl. IAS 32-39 banking Investment banking Banking Equity holding companies activities

Net banking income 4 256 682 648 310 70 (49) (142)
Overheads (3 008) (255) (303) (203) (27) (33) 142

Gross operating profit 1 248 427 345 107 43 (82)

Cost of risk (301) (3) 40 (6)
Gains on other assets* 8 8 1 2 5

Profit before tax 955 432 386 101 45 (77)

Corporation tax (325) (137) (128) (23) (2) 41
Net profit before minority interests 630 295 258 78 43 (36) 0

Minority interests
Net profit, Group share

* including net profit or loss of companies accounted for by the equity method and goodwill impairment

The activities are as follows:
• Retail banking covers the activities of the network of the regional banks and of CIC in the Paris region as well as all the specialist activities whose products are marketed through the branch network: finance leasing of goods and property, factoring, fund management,
employee savings plans, and property. Insurance activities accounted for by the equity method are included under retail banking.
• Corporate and investment banking and capital markets covers:
a) the financing of large corporate and institutional customers, specialised financing, international activities and activities carried out through foreign subsidiaries,
b) market activities in general, i.e. involving interest rate products, foreign exchange and equities, whether on a customer's behalf or for the bank's own account, including brokerage activities.
• Private banking covers all companies whose main activity is private banking, both in France and abroad.
• Private equity activities carried out for the bank's own account and financial engineering respresent a business division.
• Administration and holding companies groups all the components that cannot be allocated to any of the other divisions and logistics structures: intermediate holding companies, operating property assets held by specific entities and IT companies.
Consolidated entities are allocated in full to their principal activity based on their contribution to the consolidated accounts. There are only two exceptions: CIC due to its presence in several activities and Cial for its market activities only. In these cases, the company
accounts are broken down analytically.
The balance sheet is split in the same way.
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Breakdown of assets and liabilities by geographic area

ASSETS

France Rest of Rest of world * Total France Rest of Rest of world *
Europe Europe

Cash in hand, balances with central banks and post office accounts - Asset 5 138 268 2 5 408 3 741 233 2

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 65 443 2 023 3 060 70 526 58 604 1 692 2 274
Derivative hedging instruments - Asset 697 20 5 722 310 9 3
Financial assets available for sale 38 945 10 430 1 280 50 655 37 886 9 978 1 672

Loans and advances to credit institutions 44 180 1 013 1 208 46 401 35 584 1 078 843
Loans and advances to customers 117 774 3 884 1 890 123 549 101 892 3 720 1 630

Financial assets held to maturity 859 249 0 1 108 957 97 0
Holdings in companies accounted for by the equity method 115 0 34 149 91 0 0

LIABILITIES

France Rest of Rest of world * Total France Rest of Rest of world *
Europe Europe

Central Banks, Post office accounts - Liability 0 0 0 0 0 59 0

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 28 516 4 668 11 33 194 27 966 3 371 3
Derivative hedging instruments - Liability 654 547 2 1 203 40 650 -1 
Amounts due to credit institutions 56 705 -1154 2 997 58 549 44 614 2 240 1 835

Amounts due to customers 78 825 10 200 452 89 477 74 434 10 070 410
Debt securities 45 008 2 663 3 764 51 435 35 867 -690 4 022
 * USA, Singapore and Tunisia

Breakdown of profit and loss by geographic area

France Rest of Rest of world * Total France Rest of Rest of world *
Europe Europe

Net banking income 5 769 294 78 6 141 5 421 270 84
Overheads -3606 -172 -40 -3818 -3483 -163 -40 

Gross operating profit 2 163 122 38 2 324 1 937 108 44
Cost of risk -153 11 4 -138 -280 4 6

Gains on other assets* 29 0 2 31 23 0 0

Profit before tax 2 040 133 44 2 217 1 681 112 49
Total net profit 1 467 108 35 1 610 1 145 89 34

Net profit, Group share 1 284 98 31 1 414 1 003 80 30

 * USA, Singapore and Tunisia
* including net profit or loss of companies accounted for by the equity method and goodwill impairment

NOTE 36 - Credit risk on financial instruments

31.12.2004 - IFRS excluding IAS 32 - 3931.12.2005

31.12.2005 31.12.2004 - IFRS excluding IAS 32 - 39

31.12.2005 31.12.2004 - IFRS excluding IAS 32 - 39

Credit risk is the risk of incurring a loss as a result of a borrower defaulting on his contractual obligations. This risk concerns loans and debt securities held as well as counterparty risk on market transactions.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's strategy is to integrate a risk management dimension into its decision making process at all levels. This calls for the close involvement of the Group's General Management and each of the Regional Divisions in individual decisions and overall risk 
monitoring through the introduction of standardised rules and procedures.

Risk management is organised as follows:

Know your customer
Knowledge of customers and identification of prospective customers is underpinned by the close ties built up by the Regional Divisions in their local economic environments. Customer segmentation and classification by risk category directs marketing initiatives 
towards targeted customers, thanks in particular to the use of dedicated software. Sector expertise is also available for the more sensitive business sectors.
All counterparties are rated using an internal rating system that complies with Basel II requirements. The internal rating system is used throughout the CMCIC Group.

Decision-making procedures
Decision-making is essentially based on delegation of powers in Retail Banking and on a Committees-based system in Corporate and Investment Banking. The Commitments Department oversees the proper functioning of the overall system and is responsible for 
validating decisions and for ensuring that the decision-maker or committee has all the necessary information on every aspect of the commitment (counterparty, market, transaction, etc.).
The power delegated (loan acceptance powers) varies according to the loan officer's  experience and to the counterparty's relative weighting and the type of transaction (products). Automatic delegation is another factor contributing to security.
The CMCEECIC Risk Committee, which deals mainly with Large Risks, is composed of members of the Board, the heads of the Large Corporate divisions and the head of the Commitments department. The decision-making mechanism also comprises various 
committees specialised by activity, such as the Group Risk Committee, which systematically ensures the sound organisation of the risk management system within each entity.

Risk monitoring
The organisation set in place provides for risk monitoring both at counterparty level and at portfolio level (e.g. outstanding loans and production).
At counterpary level, the information system extracts data from management databases to provide a view of all the commitments on a given counterparty at group level. This data is extracted for all the relevant aspects (products, location, borrowers in the 
counterparty). For Corporate and Investment Banking, counterparties are reviewed on a regular basis. In the case of Retail Banking, a system has been set in place to detect incipient risk. Commitments in all the main customer segments are monitored using early risk 
detection software, based on external and internal criteria, notably the functioning of the accounts. These indicators are designed to identify and deal with potential risk before payment default occurs.
At the loan portfolio level, the data extraction from the information system enables portfolios classified by main activity to be monitored and analysed using both static and dynamic approaches. Outstandings and production are analysed in terms of volume and 
quality. Risk management at this level is carried out by internal control staff and by the business manager and his operations staff. The Executive Board and the various committees concerned receive all the necessary information for monitoring commitment 
portfolios.

Debt collection
The system of detection and reclassification of doubtful loans complies with the prevailing regulations. Receivables management and debt collection is, with some exceptions, carried out by specialised units. Debt collection procedures can be divided into three 
phases: regularisation at sales level, out-of-court collection and litigation.
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Exposure 31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Loans and advances

Credit institutions 46 416 37 523
Customers 126 682 110 507

Gross exposure 173 098 148 030

Provisions for impairment

Credit institutions -15 -18
Customers -3 133 -3 265

Net exposure 169 950 144 747

Exposure 31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Financing commitments

given

Credit institutions 1 954 1 523
Customers 30 789 28 875

Guarantee commitments
given

Credit institutions 1 109 742
Customers 11 708 10 692

Provisions for risks on
commitments given 96 93

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Book Book
 value  value

Debt securities

Government securities 24 930 23 858
Bonds 65 201 59 828

Derivatives 5 628 3 636
Repurchase agreements and stock lending 5 998 6 170

Gross exposure 101 758 93 492
Provisions

for impairment of securities -3 -3
Net exposure 101 755 93 490

31.12.2005

%
Structure of interbank outstandings by rating

AAA and AA+ 7
AA and AA- 30

A+ and A 55
A- and BBB+ 6

BBB and below 2

31.12.2005 01.01.2005

% %
Geographic breakdown of interbank loans   

France 87 84
Rest of Europe 8 9
Rest of world 5 7
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Credit risk on loans and advances to customers

31.12.2005 01.01.2005

% %
Breakdown by type of customer

General Public 59 58
Businesses 25 31

Large corporates 10 6
Specialised financing 3 2

Other 3 3

  

31.12.2005 01.01.2005

% %
Breakdown by geographic area

France 93 93
Rest of Europe 4 4
Rest of world 3 3

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Risk concentration

Commitments exceeding €300m Number 28 19
Loans in €m 4 448 2 763
Off-balance sheet in 7 416 5 314
Securities in €m 1 319 1 374

Commitments exceeding €100m Number 39 30
Loans in €m 5 667 3 681
Off-balance sheet in 9 964 8 709
Securities in €m 37 101

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Risk quality
Loans and receivables written down individually 4 652 4 770
Provisions for individual and collective impairment -3 133 -3 265

Coverage 67,3% 68,4%

31.12.2005 01.01.2005

% %
Breakdown of risk by sector

 Agriculture and mining 1 1
 Manufacturing 10 10

 Business services and holding companies 12 12
 Personal services 55 56
 Financial services 2 2

 Real estate services 14 13
 Transport and communication 3 3
 Not broken down and other 3 3
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NOTE 37 - Market risk

NOTE 38 - Interest rate risk, liquidity risk and foreign exchange risk

RISKS MONITORED BY ASSET AND LIABILITY MANAGEMENT

ORGANISATION OF THE BUSINESS

The role and operating principles of asset and liability management are clearly defined within the BFCM group:
- asset and liability management is identified as a separate function from the dealing desk, with its own resources; 
- the primary objective of asset and liability management is to protect sales margins from interest rate and foreign exchange fluctuations and to stabilise earnings;
-  asset and liability management also aims to ensure immediate and dynamic liquidity to enable the bank to meet its commitments at all times and avoid any liquidity crisis;
-  asset and liability management is not a profit centre but a function at the service of the bank's profitability and development strategy.
The asset and liability management unit plays an active role in defining the commercial policy in terms of customer terms and conditions, rules covering internal disposal rates, the design of new products for customers and it also ensures a 
permanent link is maintained with the network sales and marketing staff.

For several years now, the bank has operated decentralised control over the asset and liability management function. Group risk management procedures and limits are set out in the "group balance sheet management guidelines" for use 
throughout the Crédit Mutuel-CIC group.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk arises on the group's business activity. It results from differences in interest rates and benchmark rates between sources and applications of funds. Analysis of interest rate risk also takes into account the volatility of 
outstandings on products with no contractual maturity date and hidden options (early loan repayment options, loan extension options, utilisation of credit lines, etc.).

Interest rate risk on all transactions arising from retail network activities is analysed and the residual balance sheet position is hedged globally using macro hedges. Transactions involving large amounts or with an unusual structure may be 
hedged using specific hedges. Risk limits are set based on the projected annual net banking income of each bank and the group as a whole.

The sensitivity of the net interest income margin to interest rate variances is calculated at national level.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The group places great importance on managing liquidity risk and BFCM provides long-term refinancing for the group. To this end, the group monitors the various regulatory liquidity indicators:

- the one-month liquidity ratio is representative of the group's short-term liquidity. It is calculated by weighting each bank's liquidity ratio by its total assets;
- the group's capital adequacy and core capital ratio reflect its medium to long-term liquidity. This is calculated by weighting the liquidity ratio of each bank by its total medium- and long-term application of funds.
The group regularly works with structurally lending bodies such as the European Investment Bank and the French home refinancing fund (Caisse de refinancement de l’habitat). The balance of the funds required for developing its business is 
collected on the financial markets through BFCM, the group refinancing body.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Each bank hedges the currency risk on customer transactions. The residual position in foreign currencies is very small. BFCM does not hold any structural balance sheet positions in foreign currencies with the exception of capital relating to its 
foreign branches.

ACCOUNTING FOR INTEREST RATE HEDGES

Description of risk covered and of hedging relationship
Hedges established as part of balance sheet management are designed to protect the bank's balance sheet against interest rate risk. Interest rate risk on market activities is managed directly by the trading desk and is not included in asset and 
liability management. 
All these hedges comply with IAS 39 § AG114-AG132 portfolio hedge of interest rate risk, as published by the European Commission in October 2004 ("carve out" text).
Several hedging relationships are defined:
- Hedge of fixed-rate deposits using interest rate swaps (fixed rate lending/variable rate borrowing)
- Hedge of fixed-rate loans using interest rate swaps (fixed rate borrowing /variable rate lending).

Description of hedged items
1/ Portfolio of fixed-rate liabilities: sight deposits 
The items hedged are customer credit current accounts, hedged with interest rate swaps (fixed rate lending/variable rate borrowing).
2/ Portfolio of fixed-rate assets: loans 
The items hedged are fixed-rate loans to customers, hedged with interest rate swaps ((fixed rate borrowing /variable rate lending). 
The loan maturity schedule takes into account early repayment estimates. It does not take into account new loan production. Thus, over time, the hedged portfolios will decrease as instalments fall due and loans are paid off early.

Hedges
These consist of swaps initiated and/or monitored by asset and liability management and recorded in the company accounts as micro or macro hedges. Swaps are allocated to the two portfolios described above.

Efficiency tests to justify the setting in place of a hedge
Efficiency tests are carried out each time a hedge is set in place and at the end of each quarter.
In the event of under hedging, the hedging relationship is considered to be 100% efficient.

Market risk management is based on a system of limits reflecting potential losses and internal scenarios and rules (including historical VaR, stress tests and CAD) that enable actual exposures to be expressed in terms of potential loss.
These limits cover the different types of market risk (interest rate, foreign exchange, equty and issuer risk) and are divided into sub-limits by type of risk for each activity. There can be no offsetting between the different types of risk.
Risk is monitored in respect of first level indicators (sensitivity to different market risk factors), mainly used by traders, and second level indicators (potential losses), which provide a more summarised view that is directly accessible to the
decision-making bodies.
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Analysis of financial instruments by type of interest rates

Amount at 31 December 2005 (in €m) Total 3 months to 1 year to More than 5 years
Interest rate maturity Less than 3 months 1 year 5 years
Fixed-rate -5 375 -19 785 -5 084 7 112 12 382
Variable-rate 10 440

Fair value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost

Amount At 31 December 2005 (in €m) Balance sheet Market
value value

Assets
   Loans and advances to credit institutions 46 401 46 185
   Loans and advances to customers 123 549 126 619
   Financial assets held to maturity 1 108 1 493
Liabilities
   Due to credit institutions 58 549 58 419
   Due to customers 8 947 89 165
   Debt securities 51 435 51 543
   Subordinated debt 5 242 5 308

Effective interest rate of financial instruments recorded at amortised cost

At 31 December 2005 Interest rate

Assets
   Loans and advances to credit institutions 3,1%
   Loans and advances to customers 4,4%
   Financial assets held to maturity
Liabilities 0,0%
   Due to credit institutions 3,0%
   Due to customers 1,9%

NOTE 39 - Transactions with related parties

Companies 
accounted for by 
the equity method

Confédération 
Nationale

Assets
Loans, advances and securities
   Loans and advances to credit institutions 4 605 3 013
   Loans and advances to customers
   Securities 53 80
Other assets 5
Total 4 663 3 093

Liabilities

Deposits
  Due to credit institutions 2 765 838
  Due to customers  
Debt securities 5
Other liabilities 11
Total 2 776 843

Financing commitments and guarantees

Financing commitments given 0 1 739
Guarantee commitments given 0

Financing commitments received 0   
Guarantee commitments received 0

31.12.05

The maturity schedule presented here does not include market activities, which are monitored separately.
The maturity schedule is prepared based on asset and liability management rules, which apply flow assumptions to sight deposits and regulated savings accounts and assumptions of early loan repayment to customer loans.
The scope excludes non-financial instruments and equities.
Contracts are deemed to be at a variable rate when they are based on an index that can be reviewed at least once a year. Otherwise, they are deemed to be at a fixed rate.

The fair values given here are estimates based on actual parameters as at 31 December 2005. They are based on discounted future cash flows estimated based on a yield curve that does not
take into account the debtor's inherent signature risk.
The financial instruments referred to in this note are loans and borrowings. They do not include non-monetary instruments (equity shares), trade payables, other assets, other liabilities or accrual accounts. Non-financial instruments are not
covered by this note.
The fair value of on-demand financial instruments and customers' regulated savings contracts is the value that can be demanded by the customer, i.e. the book value. 
Some group entities also apply the following assumption: the market value is the book value for variable-rate contracts, or contracts with a residual maturity of one year or less. 
We draw the reader's attention to the fact that, excepting financial assets held to maturity, financial instruments recorded at amortised cost cannot be sold or, in practice, disposed of before maturity. Accordingly, no capital gains or losses will
be recognised.
However, if a financial instrument recognised at amortised cost were to be sold, the disposal proceeds could be significantly different to the fair value calculated as at 31 December.

The scope does not include market trading activities. The scope does not include non-financial instruments and equity shares. 
For fixed-rate instruments, the effective interest rate is the interest rate that brings the present value of future cash flows into line with the book value. For variable-rate instruments, the effective rate is the last known yield curve.
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Profit and loss items relating to transactions with related parties

CMCEE Group 
parent company

Confédération 
Nationale

Interest received 115 50
Interest paid (101) (5)

Fees and commissions received  2
Fees and commissions paid  (9)

Other income and charges  

Gross margin on insurance activities  (148)

Overheads

Total 14 (110)

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

31.12.2005
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Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe 
CMCEE 
Year ended 31 December 2005 

Auditors' report on the consolidated financial statements 

To the Shareholders, 

In accordance with the assignment entrusted to us by the General Meeting, we have audited the 
consolidated financial statements of BFCM for the year ended 31 December 2005, as appended. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements. It is our 
responsibility, based on our audit, to express an opinion on the financial statements. 

The financial statements were prepared for the first time in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (explanations in the notes 1 to
 4.8 in the appendixes They contain comparative 
data for 2004 restated on the same basis except for IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4, which were 
applied by the Group as from 1 January 2005 as permitted by the option offered by IFRS 1. 

I. Opinion on the consolidated financial statements 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards applicable in France. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform our work so as to obtain reasonable assurance that the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. An audit includes an 
examination, on a test basis, of evidence relating to the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. It also includes an assessment of the accounting policies used and of the significant 
estimates made by management in the preparation of the financial statements, and an evaluation 
of their overall presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for the opinion 
expressed below. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, give a true 
and fair view of the results of the Group formed by the entities included in the consolidation 
scope and of its assets, liabilities and financial position. 

II. Justification of our assessments 

In application of the provisions of Article L.832-9 of the Commercial Code relating to the 
justification of our assessments, we inform you of the following: 
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− Your Group recognises provisions, as indicated in note 3.4 of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, to cover the credit risks inherent in its business. We have examined the 
control mechanism relating to the monitoring of credit risks, provisioning methodologies, the 
assessment of the risks of non-collection and their coverage by individual and/or collective 
provisions. 

− Your Group uses internal models and methodologies to value financial instruments that are 
not traded on active markets, and also for establishing certain provisions and assessing the 
appropriateness of designated hedging transactions. We have examined the control 
mechanism relating to verification of the models and setting of the parameters used. 

− Your Group recognises provisions to cover staff-related commitments as described in notes 
3.10 and 20 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. As part of our work, we 
examined the assumptions and calculation methods used. 

The above assessments formed part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole and therefore contributed to reaching the opinion expressed in the first section of this 
report. 

III. Specific verifications 

We have also verified the information provided in the Group Management Report, in accordance 
with auditing standards applicable in France. 

We have no comments to make on the truth and fairness of this information or on its consistency 
with the consolidated financial statements. 

Strasbourg and Neuilly-sur-Seine, 7 April 2006 

The Auditors 

KMT Audit S.A.R.L. Barbier Frinault & Autres 

KPMG network 

[signature] [signature] [signature] [signature] 

Henri Koenig Arnaud Bourdeille Richard Olivier Olivier Durand 

CMCEE 

Year ended 31 December 2005 
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